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THE ADVISORY BOARD COMPANY is global

research technology and consulting firm focused

on the health care and higher education industries

We partner with executives and their teams

through unique membership model and serve

network of over 3700 organizations

When faced with their toughest challenges

executives turn to us for strategic guidance

and performance improvement solutions
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We serve hospitals health systems

and universities in addressing their

most pressing challenges We help

these organizations deliver on their

higher calling to provide superior

patient care and education to

their communities



Our Financials

Annual Revenues

In Millions

$370.3

Contract Value per Member

In Thousands

$106.9

Adjusted Earnings per Diluted Share2

Adjusted results are not presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States GAAP See page 19 for reconciliation of GAAP to adjusted results

Adjusted Earnings per
Diluted Share results have not been restated to reflect the impact of the

Companys two-for-one stock split completed on June 182012

Cash Flow from Operations

In Millions

$283.4

$232.6
$222.8

$209.4

08 09 10 11 12

$2.27

$92.8

08 09 10 11 12 08 09 10 11

The Advisory Board Company \\ Annual Report 2012



Robert Musslewhrte

Chief Executive Officer



measures of va ue such as quality aid outcomes

ar each institut on must invest In new apaolltes

to support the transitIon Higher education

leaders are under regulatory and parental ressure

for accountability on student debt and degree

completion In additlor disruptive new modes

of online education are having radical impacts on

costs learning outcomes measure Tient and st dent

recruit ient while the eune ging dour inance of

ont ad tionai students iorces schools to reinvent

recruiting lnstrucion and services With these

enormously comp ex challenges in health tare and

higher education organizations need suppor. at even
level and last yesr we served over 150 000 executives

au staff represe it ng over 3700 istiti tb is

Number of Industry Leaden We Serve

As trusted advisor to these executives and indust les

we continually invest to offer the most n-deptt

aid comprehensive soit tions to the problems they

face world-class research and insights on oroven

bes pracices citting-edge cloud-based software

applicatio is niq analytics and ded cated

management support 10 critical endeavors sucr -s

pnyslciar cost quality performance pop ilation

healt manager ient physician practice management
and clinical integration ie value and Impact of cur

work has never been higher and across the year there

were hundreds of examples of our programs delivering

significant returns to members Here are Jt.sti

few illustrations

Crimson Continuum of Care was adopted

fry 186-bed iosplta to change plyslcuc

pracrce pa .tems using Crimson data and bes

practices In ..he first year the instituVo realized

$21 million in adjusted annual cost savings

reduction of ..09 days in average length stay

and 73% ed iction readmiscions

Using our Payment lavigaticn Compasb

echnology 380-bed health system realIzed

33% rcrease in point-a service POS collections

for gin of $11 million in its first year cf partnering

with us The syste ti has nce exoandeo its use

the tool toot ier areis id is on track to contnt.e to

exceed its Vstoric iI co lection totals as nplov

our POS solution excuusively for all front end eve we

cycle management needs

Our Southwind div son wss retained by bed

not-for-profit health care system to manage
all financial and operationa components of its

150 physician enterprise We made actionable

recommendations for maximizing operational

perfornancc focused on both stability under to

payment models and success under future pc ymer
structures ths process Southwind identiie4a

muitimiii on-dol au savings opportunity Throagh thE

Southwind-lsd improvement nitiative this mer be

achieved $b milliontota improvement in ie .irs

year and is on track to react another $11 niilior

mprovemen in the initiatives second yeas

Our flagship resea .nembe ship the Health Care

dvisory Board dep oyed its suite of tools to ialym

data from nearly 5C iospitals In multi state he-i

system to quantify the systems long-term reve iu
and cost cha lenges We provided customized

solution that identi red margin enhancemerts ost

control revenue capture capacity managemert md

case mix management collectively wolF rr cre

$23 miliion an ual over the iext 10 years

It Is gratifying to be able to deiiver this kind of ceep ar

lasting value to our mei then and as evidenced by ui

financial results our members ave responded th

icreased reliance our products and servi-es

Our Highest Renewal Rate Ever

Record Growth and Financial Performance

Our primary measure of the value we deliver ano tie

confidence mambcrs place ii us is ou rstitutional

renewal rate this topped 92% in 2012 and stands

as the highest rate in our 1-istory Ir addition tIs

years record cror sel perforr iance ano migratio

to longer contract tirrcs frmone year to hree year

contracts are allowing us to len onstrate tiE ful value

hsAdvlaoyBoaidCompany AiraiRp rt2OiZ



Investing to Support Scale and Growthand power of our work For example many members

engaging in our work on Transforming the Clinical

Enterprise also signed onto our Southwlnd Practice

Management and Clinical Integration services Crimson

Continuum of Care members joined our new Crimson

Market Advantage program CFOs many of whom

participate in our Financial Leadership Council

membershipprogram expanded their work with us to

include Payment Navigation Compass and Payment

Integrity Compass to help address new contracting

structures As result of this strong renewal and

cross-sell performance our software membershipsnow

comprise 50% of company contract value with over

2200 membershipsacross more than 1300 members

Our Average Contract Value per Member

$106900

These factors allowed us to achieve record results

with annual contract value growth of 31% revenue

growth of 31% and contract value per member

of $106901 Acceierated revenue growth was

accompanied by an even larger jump in the bottom

line reflecting the scaiabiiity Inherent in our primarily

fixed-cost programs Both our Adjusted EBITDA of

$70.3 million 49% increase over last year and our

non-GAAP EPS of $2.27 up 34% from last year are

the best in our history Our cash flow was extremely

strong as usual coming In at over two times adjusted

net income This robust financial performance enables

us to continue making important investments to drive

future growth while still maintaining strong balance

sheet with $188 million in cash and marketable

securities and no debt Our model continues to provide

very strong visibility and we project continued rapid

growth and margin expansion as well as strong cash

flow performance across calendar year 2012

Number of Member Institutions We Serve

3726 jfr/jr4
4frcIm2Oll

With rapid growth comes the imperative to strengthen

the organization and we view such Internal investments

as positive enhancements to our operations and

building blocks for future scalability We expanded

to total of offices woridwide supporting

talent base of 1800 people serving members in 28

countries To enhance productivity and support for

this diverse employee and member base we Invested

in IT Infrastructure and moved forward on unified

data acquisition and management capabilities across

the company

Our sales and marketing leaders added 10 new

sales teams and continued to Invest in our

relationship management capabilities expanding

our talented pool of sales and account management

executives and pursuing new sales models that

rely more than ever on institutional knowledge and

relationships Implementation of Salesforce.com

continued to progress well allowing easier access

to Information about our members We also opened

entirely new channels for our products and services

with the unveiling of our new logo and branding our

user-friendly and searchable website and our expanded

PR outreach

Number of Countries We Serve

28

Investing in New Products and Services

in addition to Investing to drive scale we continued

to make investments In future growth in Fiscal 2012

we launched four new programs and fortified products

introduced In the prior year Since we invest in new

product activity ahead of accrual revenue products

bring negative contribution during their first 18 to 24

months but in each case we project strong growth

and eventual profitability as we add more and more

members over our primarily fixed-cost base



We developed two new products on ouriCrimson

platform leveraging key Intellectual prclperty and

expertise across our portfolio of physician products

the Crimson Practice Management Program provides

actionable data to enhance the perforMance of

physician practices and maximize their jotal health

system contribution while Crimson Maket Advantage

arms hospital executives with the techr4logy

expertise and support to improve theirhysician

outreach and referrals

User Sessions of Our Software Tools Annually

1.1 MiIIion

We also announced two new research pjograms

one In higher edycation and one In heat
care The Continuing and Online

Education

Forum our fifth program serving higher education

provides best practice research peer ntworklng

and benchmarklng tools to help
university

leaders

balance the revenue potential of
contlning

and online

instruction with concerns about quality and volatility

of demand Our new Physician PracticiRoundtable

equips Independent physician organizafions with

the strategic Insights and practical tool$ needed

to evaluate their clinical operational arfd financial

performance as they ready their organl4ations for

success under value-based payment E1ch of our new

programs is off to strong start

US Inpatient Admissions Flowing Throuh Our Tools

45%

This year we also continued to make söctive

acquisitions of important capabilities ttbt support our

organic growth strategy We acquired Pivot Heaith the

leader in long-termphysician practice rianagement

services to supplement Southwlnds expertise in

interim physician practice management and enable

us to extend those services to more permanent and

recurring relationships We also co-founded separate

company Evolent Health with the University of

Pittsburgh Medical Center UPMC in anticipation of

the shift to value-based care Evolent Health offers

managed service solution for health systems Interested

in building population management capabilities and

branded health plans With UPMC Health Plans years

of Investment in care management technology and

its highly differentiated provider-focused approach

to health plan operation we expect Evolent Health

to become the leading managed service provider to

health systems seeking to take on population risk

Looking ahead at Fiscal 2013 we will stay at the

cutting edge of our members concerns evolving

our current research and programs to address their

most pressing issues and launching four to five new

programs from our current pipeline of over 25 new

programs in development Additionally our business

development team wiil continue to evaluate appropriate

ways to supplement our organic growth strategy with

selective acquisitions

Size of Our Staff Worldwide

2008 ftftftft 910

2012 ftftftftftftf ft 1853

Investing in Our Talent

Most importantly am extremely proud that

our rapid growth allows us to attract retain and

engage exceptional talent and create tremendous

opportunities inside the firm for new roles

expanded responsibilities and steep development

curves Over the last year we hired record

number of staff at all levels of the organization

and nearly 40% of our staff earned promotions

or assumed new roles across divisions based on

their talent skill and remarkable contributions

Fiscal 2012 stands out as period during which we

further expanded our focus on top talent investing

in new ways to support our growing organization

Th.Advlaory Boyd Company Annual Rapot 2012



and build our bench of leaders We introduced

our first ever e-learning platform for management

development and our Inaugural Women In Leadership

forum to support and accelerate the trajectory of

female leaders at the firm through career coaching

skill building and executive visibility New methods of

firm-wide communication were Instituted to give our

staff greater visibility Into overall company strategy

as well as exposure to people and products across

the company In recognition of the hard work and

exceptional commitment of our staff we also made

tangible investments to foster job sustainability and

work-life balance Including new benefits such as our

wellness Initiative and backup child care plan

As look to the future It is our outstanding employees

who give me confidence that we can continue helping

our members navigate these challenging times and

achieve unparalleled success Growth is key to

accomplishing this ambitious mission it allows us to

partner with member Institutions In ever deeper and

more comprehensive ways yielding strong financial

results that lead to investment back Into the business

and compelling value proposition for our staff This

In turn fuels further growth Innovation and financial

strength am grateful that in calendar year 2012 we

remain on track to achieve $420 million to $430 million

in revenuesanother year of growth exceeding 20%
and again expand our margins feel privileged to serve

with leaders and staff whose dedication and superb

work are making immense contributions to health

care and higher education around the world and look

forward to another year of delivering strong company

performance and world-class value to our members

Sincerely

Robert Musslewhite

Chief Executive Officer
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xi
Representative Sample from The Advisory Board Companys 3700 Members

You are on the cuthng edge

providing valuable Information

on challenges faced across

the health care spectrum

You wouldnt want to face

the current challenges in

heafth care before knowing

what the Advisory Board had

to say about it

SERVICE LINE EXECUTIVE

MEDICAL CENTER

What
makes Southwind unique

in the physicIan practice

management and consulting

space Is the depth and breadth

of the operating experience

of their staff That experience

ensures that all of their

recommendations are practical

and actionable The plan we

received from them to optimize

the performance of our

physician organization not only

made sense It was one that

we could begin implementing

immediately

CHIEF EXECUT VE OFFICER

HEALTH SYSTEM

When we were looking at

vendors the Advisory Board

stood out because of your

strategic view and partnership

Your approach is not just

Heres the data There are

good conversations that

go with it

CHIEF INTEGRATION OFFICER

HEALTH SYSTEM
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We
have introduced Crimson

Continuum of Care to some

physicians and it is very hard

to pry their fingers off the

keyboard We already have

physicians asking What Is my
rate of Infection have been

waiting forthis for 20 years
CHIEF MEDICAL OFFICER

MEDICAL CENTER

Every
time we put the

Impossible out there the

Advisory Board doesnt say

Thats impossible They

say Let us see how we can

help lets think about th

The Advisory Board brings that

piece that most firms dont
PRESIDENT

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL

The
Forumgave us confidence

that some of the demand

trends we were hearing

would be around for the next

decade but also alerted us to

some trends that hadnt yet

arrived In our local market

We think we have differentiated

prograrrt with lot of visibility

and support on campus and

among the opinion-leading

employers near us
DEAN CONTINUING STUDIES

PRIVATE UNIVERSITY
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Financial Review
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Selected Financial Data
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

The following table sets forth selected financial and operating data for the fiscal years and as of the dates indicated The

selected financial data presented below as of March 31 2008 2009 2010 2011 and 2012 and for the five fiscal years in

the period ended March 31 2012 has been derived from our financial statements which have been audited by Ernst

Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm You should read the selected financial data presented

below in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements the notes to the consolidated financial statements and

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included elsewhere in this

Annual Report
Year Ended March 31

In thousands except per share amounts 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Statements of Income Data

Revenue $209365 $222811 $232610 $283439 $370345

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 94750 109951 118443 149043 203187
Member relations and marketing 44002 50693 52533 64295 73875
General and administrative 25269 26725 32133 38225 47892

Depreciation and amortization of property

and equipment 3589 5647 6391 5971 9033
Write-off of capitalized software 7397

Total costs and expenses 167610 193016 216897 257534 333987

Operating income 41755 29795 157L3 25905 36358
Other income net 6142 2445 2340 1866 3034

Income from continuing operations before

provision for income taxes and equity in

loss of unconsolidated entity 47897 32240 18053 27771 39392
Provision for income taxes 15953 10327 6192 9691 15203
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 1337

Net income from continuing operations 31944 21913 11861 18080 22852
Discontinued operations

lncome/Ioss from discontinued operations

net of tax 118 445 428 444 286

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 2155

Net incorne/Ioss from discontinued operations 118 445 428 444 2441

Net income 32062 21468 11433 18524 25293

Earnings per sharebasic
Net income from continuing operations 1.77 1.33 0.76 1.15 1.39

Net income/loss from discontinued operations 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.15

Net income per sharebasic 1.78 1.31 0.74 1.18 1.54

Earnings per sharediluted

Net income from continuing operations 1.71 1.32 0.75 1.10 1.32

Net income/loss from discontinued operations 0.01 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.14

Net income per sharediluted 1.72 1.30 0.73 1.13 1.46

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic 17999 16441 15515 15733 16404
Diluted 18635 16560 15692 16415 17330

Income/Ioss from discontinued operations for all periods presented includes the operating results for OptiLink which was sold in

January 2012

18 The Advisory Board Company \\ Annual Report 2012



Year Ended March 31

In thousands except per share amounts 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Stock-based compensation expense included in

Statement of Income

Costs and expenses
Costof services 4558 4273 3930 2763 3440

Member relations and marketing 2599 2436 2248 1663 2133
General and administrative 5406 5738 5974 4366 6413

Totalcostsandexpenses 12563 12447 12152 8792 11986

Operating income 12563 12447 12152 8792 11986

Net income 8380 8464 7984 5725 7359

Impact on earnings per share

Netincomepersharediluted 0.45 0.51 0.51 0.35 0.42

March 31

In thousands 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Balance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents 17907 23746 61238 30378 60642

Marketable securities 132158 70103 51682 86179 127444

Working capital deficit 46947 37046 20850 65953 29169
Total assets 305114 316258 386772 491188 705588

Deferred revenue 139486 167035 204112 262751 392456

Total stockholders equity 122529 98899 111815 148592 217047

March31

unaudited 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Other Operating Data

Membership programs offered 36 40 44 49 53

Total members 2707 2761 2916 3179 3726
Member institution renewal rate 90% 88% 89% 91% 92%

Contract value in thousands2 $220156 $222025 $253267 304299 $398313

Contract value per member3 81328 80415 86854 95722 $106901

Year Ended March 31

In thousands except per share amounts 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Reconciliation of GAAP to Adjusted Results

Net income 32062 21468 11433 18524 25293

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 1337

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 2155
Loss/income from discontinued operations

netof tax 118 445 428 444 286
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles

netoftax 783 1079 2921 3502

Acquisition and transaction charges net of tax 738 277 405

Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related

earn-out liabilities net of tax 963 4163

Gain on investment in common stock warrants

net of tax 263
Write-off of capitalized software net of tax 4860

Option cancellation charge net of tax 1273
Share-based compensation expense net of tax 8380 8483 6712 5705 7388

Adjusted net income 40324 31179 26523 27946 39384

Adjusted earnings per share

Net income per sharediluted 2.16 1.88 1.69 1.70 2.27

Indicates the percentage of member institutions at the beginning of fiscal year that hold one or more memberships in any of our

programs at the beginning of the next fiscal year adjusted to reflect mergers acquisitions or different affiliations of members that

result in changes of control over individual institutions

Represents the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect at particular date without regard to the initial

term or remaining duration of any such agreement

Represents total contract value divided by the number of members
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Stock Performance Graph
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock during the five-year period

from March 31 2007 through March 31 2012 with the cumulative total return on the SP 500 Index the Russell 2000

Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index for the same period The comparison assumes Ihat $100 was invested on

March 31 2007 in our common stock and in each of the foregoing indices and assumes reinvestment of dividends if

any The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical data and are not intended to forecast the possible

future performance of our common stock

Comparison of Cumulative Total Return Among The Advisory Board Company
the SP 500 Index the Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return Assumes Initial Investment of $100

$180

$160

$140

$120

$100

$80

$60

$40

$20

$0
3.312007 3.31.2008 3.31.2009 3.31.2010 3.31.2011 3.31.2012

The Advisory Board Company SP 500 Indes

Total Returns

Russell 2000 Indes Nasdaq Composite Indes

Total Returns

The Advisory SP 500 Russell Nasdaq

Board Company Index 2000 Index Composite Index

March 31 2007 $100 $100 $100 $100

March 31 2008 $109 $95 $87 $95

March 31 2009 $33 $59 $54 $64

March 31 2010 $62 $88 $88 $102

March 31 2011 $102 $102 $111 $119

March 31 2012 $175 $110 $111 $134
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Managements Discussion and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Overview

We provide best practices research and analysis software toos and management and advisory services through

discrete programs to approximately 3700 organizations including hospitals health systems pharmaceutical and

biotech companies health care insurers medical device companies colleges universities and other educational

institutions Members of each program typically are charged fixed fee and have access to an integrated set of services

that may include best practice research studies executive education seminars customized research briefs web-based

access to the programs content database and software tools

Our membership business model allows us to create value for our members by providing proven technology solutions

to common and complex problems as well as high-quality content on broad set of relevant issues Our growth has

been driven by strong renewal rates addition of new memberships in our existing programs new program launches

acquisitions of complementary businesses and annual price increases Our member institution renewal rate was 89%

91% and 92% for fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively We believe that high renewal rates are reflection of our

members recognition of the value they derive from participating in our programs Our revenue grew 21.9% in fiscal 2011

over fiscal 2010 and grew 30.7% in fiscal 2012 over fiscal 2011 Our contract value increased 20.1% to $304.3 million as

of March 31 2011 from March 31 2010 and increased 30.9% to $398.3 million as of March 31 2012 from March 31 2011

We define contract value as the aggregate annualized revenue attributed to all agreements in effect at particular date

without regard to the initial term or remaining duration of any such agreement As of March 31 2012 more than 90% of

our contract value was renewable In each of our programs we generally invoice and collect fees in advance of accrual

revenue recognition

Our operating costs and expenses consist of cost of services member relations and marketing general and admin

istrative expenses depreciation and amortization of property and equipment expenses and in fiscal 2010 the

write-off of capitalized software Cost of services includes the costs associated with the production and delivery of our

products and services consisting of compensation for research personnel in-house faculty software developers and

consultants the organization and delivery of membership meetings teleconferences and other events production of

published materials technology license fees costs of developing and supporting our web-based content and software

tools and fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities Member relations and marketing includes the

costs of acquiring new members and the costs of account management consisting of compensation including sales

incentives travel and entertainment expenses training of personnel sales and marketing materials and associated

support services General and administrative expenses include the costs of human resources and recruiting finance

and accounting management information systems facilities management new program development and other

administrative functions Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment expense includes the cost of depre

ciation of our property and equipment amortization of costs associated with the development of software and tools

that are offered as part of certain of our membership programs and amortization of acquired developed technology

Write-off of capitalized software in fiscal 2010 includes the impairment charge taken to write down internally developed

capitalized software balances to their current fair value Our operating costs for each period presented include

stock-based compensation expense and expenses that represent additional payroll taxes associated with the taxable

income recognized by employees upon their exercise of common stock options and the vesting of their restricted stock

units issued under our stock incentive plans
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Non-GAAP Financial Presentation

This managements discussion and analysis presents supplemental measures of our performance which are derived

from our consolidated financial information but which are not presented in our consolidated financial statements

prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America or GAAP
These financial measures which are considered non-GAAP financial measures under SEC rules are referred to as

adjusted EBITDA adjusted net income and non-GAAP earnings per diluted share See Non-GAAP Financial Measures

below for information about our use of these non-GAAP financial measures including our reasons for including these

measures material limitations with respect to the usefulness of the measures and reconciliations of each non-GAAP

financial measure to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure

Results of Operations

The following table shows statements of income data expressed as percentage of revenue for the periods indicated

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 50.9 52.6 54.9

Member relations and marketing 22.6 22.7 19.9

General and administrative 13.8 13.5 12.9

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 2.7 2.1 2.4

Write-off of capitalized software 3.2

Total costs and expenses 93.2 90.9 90.2

Operating Income 6.8 9.1 9.8

Other income net 1.0 0.7 0.8

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes

and equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 7.8 9.8 10.6

Provision for income taxes 2.7 3.4 4.1

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 0.4

Net income from continuing operations 5.1 6.4 6.2

Discontinued operations

Loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax 0.2 0.2 0.1

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 0.6

Net loss/income from discontinued operations 0.2 0.2 0.7

Net income 4.9% 6.5% 6.8%

Fiscal Years Ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012

Net Income

Net income increased 62.0% from $11.4 million in fiscal 2010 to $18.5 million in fiscal 2011 and 36.5% to $25.3 million

in fiscal 2012 The increase in net income in fiscal 2011 was primarily attributable to increased revenue and to lesser

extent to the absence of two non-cash charges incurred in fiscal 2010 and was partially offset by costs associated with

the launch of new programs and an increase in the number of new sales teams During fiscal 2010 we incurred non-

cash charge of $7.4 million resulting from the write-off of capitalized software and non-cash charge of $1.9 million

associated with the cancellation of stock options voluntarily surrendered by certain members of senior management

and the Board of Directors The increase in net income in fiscal 2012 was primarily due to 30.7% increase in revenue

and gain on the sale of discontinued operations of $2.2 million net of taxes The effect of these factors was partially

offset by increases of $54.1 million in cost of services due to newly developed acquired and growing programs increases

of $9.6 million in marketing and member relations expense due to the addition of new sales teams and increases of

$9.7 million in general and administrative expense related to increased new product development costs and increases

in finance information technology and human resources expense incurred to support our growing employee base

Our fiscal 2012 results include our proportionate share of the net loss of Evolent Health Inc or Evolent venture

we established in the second quarter of fiscal 2012
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Adjusted Net Income Non-GAAP Earnings Per Diluted Share and Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted net income increased 5.4% from $26.5 million or $1.69 per diluted share in fiscal 2010 to $27.9 million or

$1.70 per diluted share in fiscal 2011 and 40.9% to $39.4 million or $2.27 per diluted share in fiscal 2012 Adjusted

EBITDA increased 6.5% from $44.4 million in fiscal 2010 to $47.3 million in fiscal 2011 and 48.7% to $70.3 million in

fiscal 2012 The increases in adjusted net income and adjusted EBITDA were due to increased revenue the effect of

which was partially offset by higher new product development costs including the costs associated with the launch of

new programs acquisitions and with an increase in the number of new sales teams

Revenue

Revenue increased 21.8% from $232.6 million in fiscal 2010 to $283.4 million in fiscal 2011 and 30.7% from fiscal 2011

to $370.3 million in fiscal 2012 Our contract value increased 20.1% from $253.3 million as of March 31 2010 to $304.3

million as of March 31 2011 and 30.9% to $398.3 million as of March 31 2012

The increase in revenue in fiscal 2011 over fiscal 2010 was primarily attributable to the cross-selling of existing programs

to existing members the introduction and expansion of new programs the addition of new member organizations the

acquisition of Concuity Services Inc or Concuity and full fiscal year of revenue from Southwind Health Partners

L.L.C and Southwind Navigator LLC which we refer to together as Southwind The increase in revenue in fiscal 2012

over fiscal 2011 was primarily attributable to the introduction and expansion of new programs including our August

2011 acquisition of PivotHealth LLC or PivotHealth full fiscal year of revenue from Cielo MedSolutions LLC or

Cielo the cross-selling of existing programs to existing members and price increases

We offered 45 membership programs as of March 31 2010 50 as of March 31 2011 and 53 as of March 31 2012 Our

membership base consisted of 2916 member institutions as of March 31 2010 3179 member institutions as of March

31 2011 and 3726 member institutions as of March 31 2012 Our average contract value per member was $86854 for

fiscal 2010 compared to $95722 for fiscal 2011 and $106901 for fiscal 2012

Cost of Services

Cost of services increased 25.8% from $118.4 million in fiscal 2010 to $149.0 million in fiscal 2011 and 36.3% from fis

cal 2011 to $203.2 million in fiscal 2012 As percentage of revenue cost of services was 50.9% for

fiscal 2010 52.6% for fiscal 2011 and 54.9% for fiscal 2012 The increase of $30.6 million for fiscal 2011 was primarily

attributable to an increase in personnel and other deliverable costs from new programs including the acquisitions of

Southwind and Concuity The increase of $54.1 million for fiscal 2012 was primarily due to growth and expansion of

our Crimson Software Inc and Southwind programs an increase of $11.1 million from programs acquired in 2011 and

$6.7 million in fair value adjustments to our acquisition-related earn-out liabilities

Member Relations and Marketing Expense

Member relations and marketing expense increased 22.4% from $52.5 million in fiscal 2010 to $64.3 million in fiscal

2011 and 14.9% from fiscal 2011 to $73.9 million in fiscal 2012 As percentage of revenue member relations and

marketing expense in fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 was 22.6% 22.7% and 19.9% respectively The total dollar increases

in member relations and marketing expense over each of the fiscal years were primarily due to increases in sales staff

and related travel and other associated costs as well as to an increase in member relations personnel and related costs

required to serve our expanding membership base We had an average of 116 135 and 148 new business development

teams during fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense increased 19.0% from $32.1 million in fiscal 2010 to $38.2 million in fiscal 2011 and

25.3% from fiscal 2011 to $47.9 million in fiscal 2012 As percentage of revenue general and administrative expense in

fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 was 13.8% 13.5% and 12.9% respectively The increase of $6.1 million in general and

administrative expense for fiscal 2011 was primarily due to an increase of $2.1 million in direct recruitment costs as well

as to $2.3 million increase in costs of administrative personnel to support our growing employee base The increase

of $9.7 million in general and administrative expense for fiscal 2012 was primarily attributable to an increase in new

product development costs of $2.4 million which included $0.7 million in legal costs relating to our acquisitions

of PivotHealth and Cielo and formation of Evolent an increase in share-based compensation of $2.0 million and

increased recruiting human resources and finance personnel costs incurred to support our growing employee base

As of March 31 2012 we had approximately 1850 employees compared to 1600 as of March 31 2011
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Depreciation and Amortization of Property and Equipment Expense

Depreciation expense decreased from $6.4 million or 2.7% of revenue in fiscal 2010 to $6.0 million or 2.1% of

revenue in fiscal 2011 and increased to $9.0 million or 2.4% of revenue in fiscal 2012 The decrease in fiscal 2011

was primarily attributable to decreased amortization expense from developed capitalized internal-use software tools

following write-off of capitalized software during fiscal 2010 The increase in fiscal 2012 was primarily due to increased

amortization expense from technology acquired in the Cielo acquisition and amortization expense from developed

capitalized internal-use software tools and to lesser extent depreciation on our newly constructed Austin Texas

office and expansion of our Washington D.C headquarters

Write-Off of Capitalized Software

During fiscal 2010 we recognized an impairment charge on capitalized internally developed software assets of $7.4

million with no comparable expense in subsequent fiscal years

Other Income Net

Other income net decreased from $2.3 million in fiscal 2010 to $1.9 million in fiscal 2011 and increased to $3.0 million

in fiscal 2012 Other income net consists of interest income unrealized gain resulting from changes in the fair value of

the investment in common stock warrants and foreign exchange rate gains and losses Other income net consisted of

interest income of $2.3 million and foreign exchange rate gain of $46000 in fiscal 2010 interest income of $1.7 million

and foreign exchange rate gain of $0.2 million in fiscal 2011 and interest income of $2.4 million foreign exchange

rate gain of $0.1 million and gain of $0.5 million on an investment in common stock warrants in fiscal 2012 Interest

income decreased from $2.3 million in fiscal 2010 to $1.7 million in fiscal 2011 due to lower interest rates and lower

average invested cash balances resulting from cash payments for the acquisitions of Southwind and Concuity in fiscal

2010 and 2011 respectively Higher average cash and investment balances contributed to an increase in interest income

from $1.7 million in fiscal 2011 to $2.4 million in fiscal 2012 During fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 we recognized foreign

exchange gains of $46000 $157000 and $148000 respectively as result of the effect of fluctuating currency rates

on our receivable balances denominated in foreign currencies

Provision for Income Taxes

Our provision for income taxes was $6.2 million $9.7 million and $15.2 million in fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 respec

tively Our effective tax rate in fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 was 34.3% 34.9% and 38.6% respectively The increases in

our effective tax rate in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2012 were primarily due to the effects that higher net income has on our

effective rate when compared to the fixed nature of our Washington D.C tax credits that we receive due to our status as

Qualified High Technology Company under the New E-conomy Transformation Act of 2000

Equity in Loss of Unconsolidated Entity

Our proportionate share of the losses of Evolent during fiscal 2012 was $1.3 million We did riot recognize comparable

loss in the prior year periods as Evolent was formed on August 31 2011

Loss from Discontinued Operations Net of Tax

On January 20 2012 we sold substantially all of the assets of OptiLink As result we recorded the net loss or income

generated by OptiLink as discontinued operations of $0.4 million $0.4 million and $0.3 million in fiscal 2010 2011

and 2012 respectively

Gain on Sale of Discontinued Operations

In fiscal 2012 we recorded gain of $2.2 million from the sale of OptiLink after tax
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Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We recognized the following stock-based compensation expense in the consolidated statements of income line items

for stock options and RSUs issued under our stock incentive plans and for shares issued under our employee stock

purchase plan for fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 in thousands except per share amounts

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Stock-based compensation expense included in

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 3930 2763 3440

Member relations and marketing 2248 1663 2133

General and administrative 5974 4366 6413

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses 12152 8792 11986

Operating income 12152 8.792 11986

Net income 7984 $5725 7359

Impact on diluted earnings per share 0.51 0.35 0.42

There are no stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of the cost of an asset

Stock-based compensation expense by award type is below in thousands
Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Stock-based compensation expense by award type

Stock options 6287 3590 5072

Restricted stock units 5857 5202 6914

Employee stock purchase rights

Total stock-based compensation $12152 8792 $11986

Stock-based compensation for fiscal 2010 included pre-tax charges relating to the acceleration of the remaining expense

on cancelled stock option awards of approximately $0.7 million recorded in cost of services $0.1 million recorded in

member relations and marketing expense and $1.1 million recorded in general and administrative expense

As of March 31 2012 $19.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based compensation is

expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.5 years

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We use non-GAAP financial measures to supplement the financial information presented on GAAP basis The non

GAAP financial measures presented in this report include adjusted EBITDA adjusted net income and non-GAAP

earnings per diluted share We define adjusted EBITDA as net income before provision for income taxes from

continuing operations other income net which includes interest income gain on investment in common stock

warrants and foreign currency gains depreciation and amortization of property and equipment amortization of

intangibles included in cost of services equity in loss of unconsolidated entity gain on sale of discontinued operations

net of tax loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax non-cash charges associated with the write-off of

capitalized software cancellation of certain stock options acquisition and similar transaction charges fair value

adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities and share-based compensation expense We define adjusted net

income as net income excluding equity in loss of unconsolidated entity gain on sale of discontinued operations loss

income from discontinued operations net of tax amortization of acquisition-related intangibles acquisition and similar

transaction charges fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities gain on investment in common

stock warrants non-cash charges associated with the write-off of capitalized software net of tax cancellation of certain

stock options and share-based compensation expense We define non-GAAP earnings per diluted share as earnings

per diluted share excluding equity in loss of unconsolidated entity gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax
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loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax amortization of acquisition-related intangibles acquisition

and similar transaction charges fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities gain on investment in

common stock warrants non-cash charges associated with the write-off of capitalized software net of tax cancellation

of certain stock options and share-based compensation expense

Our management believes that providing information about adjusted EBITDA adjusted net income and non-GAAP

earnings per diluted share facilitates an assessment by our investors of the Companys fundamental operating trends

and addresses concerns of management and investors that the various gains and expenses excluded from these

measures may obscure such underlying trends Our management uses these non-GAAP financial measures together

with financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP to enhance its understanding of our core operating per

formance which represents our views concerning our performance in the ordinary ongoing and customary course of

our operations In the future we are likely to incur income and expenses similar to these items and we expect to report

non-GAAP financial measures excluding such items again Accordingly the exclusion of these and similar items in our

non-GAAP presentation should not be interpreted as implying that the items are non-recurring infrequent or unusual

The information about our core operating performance provided by our non-GAAP financial measures is used by

management for variety of purposes Management uses the non-GAAP financial measures for internal budgeting and

other managerial purposes in part because the measures enable management to evaluate projected operating results

and make comparative assessments of our performance over time while isolating the effects of items that vary from

period to period without any correlation to core operating performance such as tax rates interest income and foreign

currency exchange rates periodic costs of certain capitalized tangible and intangible assets share-based compen
sation expense and certain non-cash and special charges The effects of the foregoing items also vary widely among

similar companies and affect the ability of management and investors to make company-to-company comparisons In

addition merger and acquisition activity can have inconsistent effects on earnings that are not related to core operating

performance due for instance to charges relating to acquisition costs the amortization of acquisition-related intangi

bles and fluctuations in the fair value of contingent earn-out liabilities Companies also exhibit significant variations

with respect to capital structure and cost of capital which affect relative interest expense and differences in taxation

and book depreciation of facilities and equipment which affect relative depreciation expense including significant

differences in the depreciable lives of similar assets among various companies By eliminating some of the foregoing

variations management believes that the Companys non-GAAP financial measures allow management and investors to

evaluate more effectively the Companys performance relative to that of its competitors and peer companies Similarly

our management believes that because of the variety of equity awards used by companies the varying methodologies

for determining both share-based compensation and share-based compensation expense among companies and from

period to period and the subjective assumptions involved in those determinations excluding share-based compensa

tion from our non-GAAP financial measures enhances company-to-company comparisons over multiple fiscal periods

Our non-GAAP measures may be calculated differently from similarly titled measures reported by other companies due

to differences in accounting policies and items excluded or included in the adjustments which limits their usefulness as

comparative measures In addition there are other limitations associated with the non-GAAP financial measures we

use including the following

the non-GAAP financial measures generally do not reflect depreciation and amortization and although the assets

being depreciated and amortized will in some cases have to be replaced in the future the measures do not reflect any

cash requirements for such replacements

the non-GAAP financial measures do not reflect the expense of equity awards to employees

the non-GAAP financial measures do not reflect the effect of earnings or charges resulting from matters that manage
ment considers not indicative of our ongoing operations but which may recur from year to year and

to the extent that we change our accounting for certain transactions or other items from period to period our non

GAAP financial measures may not be directly comparable from period to period

Our management compensates for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using the non-GAAP

financial measures only as supplemental measure of our operating performance and by considering independently

the economic effects of the foregoing items that are or are not reflected in the non-GAAP measures Due to their limita

tions our non-GAAP financial measures should be considered by our investors only in addition to financial measures

prepared in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered to be substitute for or superior to the GAAP mea
sures as indicators of operating performance
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reconciliation of our non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures is

provided below in thousands
Year Ended March 31

Unaudited 2010 2011 2012

Net income

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax

Provision for income taxes from continuing operations

Loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax

Other income net

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment

Amortization of intangibles1

Acquisition and transaction charges

Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities

Write-off of capitalized software

Option cancellation charge

Share-based compensation expense

$11433 $18524 $25293

1337

2155
6192 9691 15203

428 444 286
2340 1866 3034
6391 5971 9033

1644 4721 5623

1123 408 648

1500 6678

7397

1937

10216 8792 11986

Adjusted EBITDA $44421 $47297 $70326

Consists of amounts included/n cost of services on our consolidated statements of income

Year Ended March 31

Unaudited 2010 2011 2012

Net income $11433 $18524 $25293

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 1337

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 2155
Loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax 428 444 286
Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles net of tax 1079 2921 3502

Acquisition and transaction charges net of tax 738 277 405

Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities net of tax 963 4163

Gain on investment in common stock warrants net of tax 263
Write-off of capitalized software net of tax 4860

Option cancellation charge net of tax 1273

Share-based compensation expense net of tax 6712 5705 7388

Adjusted net income $26523 $27946 $39384

Year Ended March 31

Unaudited 2010 2011 2012

GAAP earnings per diluted share 0.73 1.13 1.46

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 0.08

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax 0.12

Loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax 0.03 0.03 0.02

Amortization of acquisition-related intangibles net of tax 0.07 0.18 0.20

Acquisition and transaction charges net of tax 0.04 0.02 0.02

Fair value adjustments to acquisition-related earn-out liabilities net of tax 0.06 0.24

Gain on investment in common stock warrants net of tax 0.01

Write-off of capitalized software net of tax 0.31

Option cancellation charge net of tax 0.08

Share-based compensation expense net of tax 0.43 0.34 0.42

Non-GAAP earnings per diluted share 1.69 1.70 227
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows generated from operating activities represent our primary source of liquidity We believe that existing cash

cash equivalents and marketable securities balances and operating cash flows will be sufficient to support operating

and capital expenditures as well as share repurchases during at least the next 12 months After the foregoing period

we may require additional capital for investment in our business The amount and timing of any additional investment

will depend on the anticipated demand for our products and services the availability of funds and other factors We had

cash cash equivalents and marketable securities balances of $116.6 million as of March 31 2011 and $188.1 million as

of March 31 2012 We expended $8.3 million and $6.6 million in cash to purchase shares of our common stock through

our share repurchase program during fiscal 2011 and 2012 respectively We had no long-term indebtedness as of March

31 2011 or 2012

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

The combination of revenue growth profitable operations and payment for memberships in advance of accrual revenue

recognition typically results in operating activities that generate cash flows in excess of net income on an annual

basis Net cash flows provided by operating activities were $46.7 million in fiscal 2010 $50.5 million in fiscal 2011 and

$92.8 million in fiscal 2012 The increase in net cash flows provided by operating activities in fiscal 2011 was primarily

due to the increase in net income and deferred revenue partially offset by an increase in excess tax benefits resulting

from the exercise of employee stock options The increase in net cash flows provided by operating activities in fiscal

2012 was primarily due to acceleration in contract value and deferred revenue growth as well as to an increase in

adjusted net income

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Our cash management and investment and acquisition strategy and capital expenditure programs affect investing cash

flows Net cash flows used in investing activities were $4.3 million in fiscal 2010 $91.9 million in fiscal 2011 and $92.4

million in fiscal 2012

In fiscal 2010 investing activities used $4.3 million in cash primarily consisting of $13.6 million used in our acquisition

of Southwind and the related escrow $5.0 million investment in company that provides revenue cycle technology

and capital expenditures of $2.5 million partially offset by the net proceeds of $16.9 million realized on the redemption

and sales of marketable securities

In fiscal 2011 investing activities used $91.9 million in cash primarily consisting of $42.6 million used in our acquisitions

of Concuity and Cielo $37.0 million used on the net purchases of marketable securities and capital expenditures of

$12.3 million

In fiscal 2012 investing activities used $92.4 million in cash primarily consisting of $17.7 million used in our acquisition

of PivotHealth our initial capital contribution of $10.0 million to Evolent capital expenditures of $32.0 million and the

net purchases of marketable securities of $40.5 million The effect of these expenditures was partially offset by the net

proceeds of $7.8 million realized on the sale of discontinued operations

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

We used net cash flows in financing activities of $4.9 million in fiscal 2010 We had net cash flows provided by financing

activities of $10.6 million in fiscal 2011 and $29.8 million in fiscal 2012

In fiscal 2010 we used net cash flows in financing activities of $4.9 million consisting of approximately $4.0 million to

repurchase 146179 shares of our common stock and $1.2 million withheld to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding

for vested restricted stock units the effect of which was partially offset by $0.2 million received from the exercise of

stock options and $0.1 million from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase plan
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In fiscal 2011 we had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $10.6 million consisting of $17.8 million from the

exercise of stock options $0.2 million received from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase

plan and $2.6 million in excess tax benefits resulting from the exercise of employee options The effect of those items

was partially offset by our repurchase of 188930 shares of our common stock for approximately $8.3 million and our

use of $1.6 million to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted stock units

In fiscal 2012 we had net cash flows provided by financing activities of $29.8 million consisting of $31.0 million from the

exercise of stock options $0.2 million received from the issuance of common stock under our employee stock purchase

plan and $7.6 million in excess tax benefits resulting from the exercise of employee options The effect of those items

was partially offset by our repurchase of 111719 shares of our common stock for approximately $6.6 million and our use

of $2.4 million to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for vested restricted stock units

Contractual Obligations

The following summarizes our contractual obligations as of March 31 2012 These obligations relate to leases for our

headquarters and other offices as well as purchase obligations for software development services both of which are

more fully described in Note 16 Commitments and contingencies to our consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this report

Payment Due by Period

Less Than 13 35 More Than

In thousands Total lYear Years Years Years

Non-cancelable operating leases $65482 $9375 $28355 $17648 $10104

Purchase obligations 1500 1500

In addition to the contractual obligations above as of March 31 2012 we have payments of up to $20.2 million contin

gently payable through December 31 2014 related to business acquisitions For additional detail see Note Fair value

measurements to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report

Share Repurchase

In January 2004 our Board of Directors authorized the repurchase by us from time to time of up to $50 million of our

common stock This authorization was increased in cumulative amount to $100 million in October 2004 to $150 million

in February 2006 to $200 million in January 2007 to $250 million in July 31 2007 and to $350 million in April 2008

We intend to fund any future share repurchases with cash on hand and with cash generated from operations No

minimum number of shares for repurchase has been fixed and the share repurchase authorization has no expiration

date All repurchases have been made in the open market pursuant to this publicly announced repurchase program
As of March 31 2012 the remaining authorized repurchase amount was $27.1 million

Exercise of Stock Options and Purchases under Our Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Options granted to participants under our stock-based incentive compensation plans that were exercised to acquire

shares in fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 generated cash of approximately $0.2 million $17.8 million and $31.0 million

respectively from payment of option exercise prices In addition in fiscal 2010 2011 and 2012 cash flows of approxi

mately $0.1 million $0.2 million and $0.2 million respectively were provided by discounted stock purchases by partici

pants under our employee stock purchase plan

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of March 31 2012 we had no off-balance sheet financing or other arrangements with unconsolidated entities

or financial partnerships such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities estab

lished for purposes of facilitating off-balance sheet financing or other debt arrangements or for other contractually

limited purposes
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Summary of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the following policies as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of

operations This listing is not comprehensive list of all of our accounting policies In many cases the accounting

treatment of particular transaction is specifically dictated by GAAP with no need for managements judgment in

its application There are also areas in which managements judgment in selecting any available alternative would not

produce materially different result Certain of our accounting policies are particularly important to the presentation of

our financial condition and results of operations and may require the application of significant judgment by our manage

ment In applying those policies our management uses its judgment to determine the appropriate assumptions to be

used in the determination of certain estimates Those estimates are based on our historical experience our observation

of trends in the industry information provided by our members and information available from other outside sources

as appropriate For more detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies see Note

Summary of significant accounting policies to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report

Our critical accounting policies are discussed below

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement the fee is fixed or determinable

services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned and collectibility is reasonably assured

Fees are generally billable when letter of agreement is signed by the member and fees receivable during the subse

quent twelve month period and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the membership or

collection of fees if earlier In many of our higher priced programs and membership agreements with terms that are

greater than one year fees may be billed on an installment basis

Multiple-Deliverable Arrangements

In October 2009 the Financial Accounting Standards Board or FASB amended the accounting standards for revenue

recognition with multiple elements for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years begin

ning on or after June 15 2010 The amended guidance allows the use of managements best estimate of selling price

for individual elements of an arrangement when vendor specific objective evidence or VSOE or third-party evidence

or TPE is unavailable Additionally the guidance eliminates the residual method of revenue recognition in accounting

for multiple element arrangements and expands the disclosure requirements for revenue recognition This guidance

was adopted prospectively by us on April 2011 and as result we have updated our accounting policy for revenue

recognition related to multiple-deliverable arrangements We have historically recognized and will continue to recognize

the majority of our revenue on ratable basis over the term of the memberships

Our membership agreements with our customers generally include more than one deliverable Deliverables are

determined based upon the availability and delivery method of the services and may include best practices research

executive education curricula web-based content databases and calculators performance or benchmarking reports

diagnostic tools interactive advisory support and software tools Access to such deliverables is generally available on

an unlimited basis over the membership period When an agreement contains multiple deliverables we review the

deliverables to determine if they qualify as separate units of accounting In order for deliverables in multiple-

deliverable arrangement to be treated as separate units of accounting the deliverables must have standalone value

upon delivery and delivery or performance of undelivered items in an arrangement with general right of return must

be probable If we determine that there are separate units of accounting arrangement consideration at the inception of

the membershipperiod is allocated to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method in accordance with the

selling price hierarchy which includes VSOE if available TPE if VSOE is not available or best estimate of selling price

if neither VSOE nor TPE is available

Our membership programs may contain certain deliverables that do not have standalone value and therefore are not

accounted for separately In general the deliverables in membership programs are consistently available throughout

the membership period and as result the consideration is recognized ratably over the membership period When

service offering includes unlimited and limited service offerings revenue is then recognized over the appropriate service

period either ratably if the service is consistently available or if the service is not consistently available upon the

earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the membership period provided that all other criteria for

recognition have been met
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Certain membership programs incorporate hosted software tools In many of these agreements members are charged

set-up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted web-based business intelligence tools and related

membershipservices Both set-up fees and subscription fees are recognized ratably over the term of the membership

agreement which is generally three years and is consistent with the pattern of the delivery of services under these

arrangements Upon launch of new program that incorporates software tool all program revenue is deferred until

the program is generally available for release to our membership and then recognized ratably over the remainder of the

contract term of each agreement

We also perform professional services sold under separate agreements that include management and consulting

services We recognize professional services revenues on time-and-materials basis as services are rendered

Allowance for Uncollectible Revenue

Our ability to collect outstanding receivables from our members has an effect on our operating performance and cash

flows We maintain an allowance for uncollectible revenue as reduction of revenue based on our ongoing monitoring

of members credit and the aging of receivables To determine the allowance for uncollectible revenue we examine our

collections history the age of accounts receivable in question any specific member collection issues that have been

identified general market conditions and current economic trends

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements furniture fixtures equipment capitalized internal

software development costs and acquired developed technology Property and equipment is stated at cost less accu

mulated depreciation and amortization In certain membership programs we provide software tools under hosting

arrangement where the software application resides on our service providers hardware The members do not take

delivery of the software and only receive access to the software tools during the term of their membershipagreement

Computer software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred

During the development stage direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees that are

directly associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software once

placed into operation Capitalized software is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life

which is generally five years Replacements and major improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repairs are

charged to expense as incurred

Acquired developed technology is classified as property and equipment because the developed software application

resides on our service providers hardware Amortization for acquired developed software is included in the depre
ciation and amortization of property and equipment line item of our consolidated statements of income Acquired

developed software is amortized over its estimated useful life of nine years based on the cash flow estimate used to

determine the value of the intangible asset

Furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the

assets which range from three to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method

over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term

Business Combinations

We record acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting All of the assets acquired liabilities assumed

contractual contingencies and contingent consideration are recognized at their fair value on the acquisition date All

subsequent changes to valuation allowance or uncertain tax position that relate to the acquired company and existed

at the acquisition date that occur both within the measurement period and as result of facts and circumstances that

existed at the acquisition date are recognized as an adjustment to goodwill All other changes in valuation allowance are

recognized as reduction or increase to expense or as direct adjustment to additional paid-in capital as required We

capitalize any acquired in-process research and development as an intangible asset and amortize it over its estimated

useful life Acquisition-related costs are recorded as expenses in the consolidated financial statements

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill Goodwill and

other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis as of

March 31 or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment We have concluded

that our reporting units that we use to assess goodwill impairment are the same as our operating segments

31



We early adopted FASB Accounting Standard Update 2011-08 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other Topic 350 Testing

Goodwill for Impairment on March 31 2012 in connection with the performance of our annual goodwill impairment test

The new guidance provides entities with the option of first performing qualitative assessment on reporting unit to

determine whether further quantitative impairment testing is necessary If an initial qualitative assessment identifies

that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value additional

quantitative testing is performed If the quantitative testing indicates that goodwill is impaired the carrying value of

goodwill is written down to fair value We determine the fair value of our reporting units based on the income approach

under which the fair value of reporting unit is calculated based on the present value of estimated future cash flows

Determining the fair value of reporting unit is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and

assumptions These estimates and assumptions include revenue growth rates and operating margins used to calculate

projected future cash flows discount rates and future economic and market conditions Our estimates are based upon

assumptions believed to be reasonable but which are inherently uncertain and unpredictable These valuations require

the use of managements assumptions which would not reflect unanticipated events and circumstances that may

occur Based on our qualitative assessment as of March 31 2012 we had no reporting unit that our management

believed was at risk of failing an impairment test that would result in material impairment charge No quantitative

testing was deemed necessary

Other intangible assets consist of capitalized software for sale and acquired intangibles We capitalize consulting costs

and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly related to building software product once technological

feasibility is established We determine that technological feasibility is established by the completion of detail program

design or in its absence completion of working model Once the software product is ready for general availability

we cease capitalizing costs and begin amortizing the intangible asset on straight-line basis over its estimated useful

life through cost of services on our consolidated statements of income The weighted average estimated useful life

of capitalized software is five years Other intangible assets include assets that arise from business combinations

consisting of developed technology non-competition covenants trademarks contracts and customer relationships

that are amortized on straight-line basis over six months to ten years Finite-lived intangible assets are required

to be amortized over their useful lives and are evaluated for possible impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

We record our long-lived assets such as property and equipment at cost We review the carrying value of our long-lived

assets for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of

assets may not be fully recoverable The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted expected

future cash flows and if required the impairment loss if any is measured as the amount that the carrying value of the

asset exceeds the assets fair value if the asset is not recoverable We consider expected cash flows and estimated

future operating results trends and other available information in assessing whether the carrying value of assets is

impaired If we determine that an assets carrying value is impaired we will record write-down of the carrying value of

the identified asset and charge the impairment as an operating expense in the period in which the determination is

made Although we believe that the carrying values of our long-lived assets are appropriately stated changes in strategy

or market conditions or significant technological developments could significantly impact these judgments and require

adjustments to recorded asset balances

Deferred Incentive Compensation and Other Charges

Incentive compensation to our employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships license fees to

third party vendors for tools data and software incorporated in specific memberships that include software tools and

other direct and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and amortized over the term of

the related memberships

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method Under this method temporary differences

arise as result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases Deferred

tax assets are reduced by valuation allowance when in the opinion of management it is more likely than not that some

portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects

of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the enactment of the change
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Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize stock-based compensation cost based on the estimated fair values of the stock-based

awards on the grant date Stock-based compensation costs are recognized as an expense in the consolidated

statements of income over the vesting periods of the awards We calculate the grant date estimated fair value of all

stock options with the exception of the stock options issued with market-based conditions using Black-Scholes

valuation model The fair value of stock options issued with market-based conditions is calculated on the date of grant

using lattice option-pricing model Determining the estimated fair value of stock-based awards is subjective in nature

and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions including the term of the stock-based awards risk-free

interest rates over the vesting period expected dividend rates the price volatility of our shares and forfeiture rates of

the awards Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grant and adjusted if necessary in subsequent periods if actual

forfeitures differ from those estimates The forfeiture rate is based on historical experience Our fair value estimates are

based on assumptions we believe are reasonable but that are inherently uncertain The fair value of restricted stock

units is determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of grant

To the extent we change the terms of our employee stock-based compensation programs experience market volatility

in the pricing of our common stock that increases the implied volatility calculation or refine different assumptions

in future periods such as forfeiture rates that differ from our current estimates among other potential factors the

stock-based compensation expense that we record in future periods and the tax benefits that we realize may differ

significantly from the expense and the tax benefits we have recorded in previous reporting periods

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note Summary of significant accounting policies to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere

in this report for description of recent accounting pronouncements including the expected dates of adoption

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily through our portfolio of cash cash equivalents and marketable securities

which is designed for safety of principal and liquidity Cash and cash equivalents include investments in highly liquid U.S

Treasury obligations with maturities of less than three months As of March 31 2012 our marketable securities con
sisted of $94.0 million in tax-exempt notes and bonds issued by various states and $33.5 million in U.S government-

sponsored enterprise securities The weighted average maturity on all our marketable securities as of March 31 2012

was approximately 6.7 years We perform periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings related to our cash cash

equivalents and marketable securities Our portfolio is subject to inherent interest rate risk as investments mature and

are reinvested at current market interest rates We currently do not use derivative financial instruments to adjust our

portfolio risk or income profile Due to the nature of our investments we have not prepared quantitative

disclosure for interest rate sensitivity in accordance with Item 305 of the SECs Regulation S-K as we believe the effect

of interest rate fluctuations would not be material

Foreign Currency Risk

Although they accounted for approximately 3.5% of our fiscal 2012 revenue our international operations subject us to

risks related to currency exchange fluctuations Prices for our services sold to members located outside the United

States are sometimes denominated in local currencies primarily the British Pound Sterling As consequence
increases in the U.S dollar against local currencies in countries where we have members would result in foreign

exchange loss recognized by us In fiscal 20102011 and 2012 we recorded foreign currency exchange gains of $46000
$157000 and $148000 respectively which are included in other income net in our consolidated statements of

income hypothetical 10% change in foreign currency exchange rates would not have material impact on our

financial position as of March 31 2012
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on the

Consolidated Financial Statements

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of

March 31 2012 and 2011 and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity and cash flows for

each of the three years in the period ended March 31 2012 These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes examining on test basis evidence support

ing the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles

used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation

We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated finan

cial position of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries at March 31 2012 and 2011 and the consolidated results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31 2012 in conformity

with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States The Advisory Board Companys internal control over financial reporting as of March 31 2012 based on criteria

established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission and our report dated May 30 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

It44Lt

Baltimore Maryland

May 30 2012
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ConsolidatedBalance Sheets
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

In thousands except share and per share amounts 201 2012

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
30378 60642

Marketable securities 4823

Membership fees receivable net 176558 281584

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 7069 6705

Deferred income taxes net 5894 7255

Total current assets 219899 361009

Property and equipment net 29491 49653

Intangible assets net 15995 19384

Goodwill 61729 74235

Deferred incentive compensation and other charges 46226 53369

Deferred income taxes net of current portion 9646 7655

Investment in unconsolidated entity 8662

Other non-current assets 11500 9000

Marketable securities 86179 122621

Assets of discontinued operations 10523

Total assets $491188 $705588

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Deferred revenue $220612 $313958

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 51957 57529

Accrued incentive compensation 13283 18691

Total current liabilities 285852 390178

Long-term deferred revenue 42139 78498

Other long-term liabilities 11015 19865

Liabilities of discontinued operations 3590

Total liabilities 342596 488541

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock par value $0.01 5000000 shares authorized zero shares issued

and outstanding

Common stock par value $0.01 90000000 shares authorized 22530909 and

23497280 shares issued as of March 31 2011 and 2012 respectively and 16010238

and 16864890 shares outstanding as of March 31 2011 and 2012 respectively 225 235

Additional paid-in capital 267242 315648

Retained earnings 164449 189742

Accumulated elements of other comprehensive loss income 120 1206

Treasury stock at cost 6520671 and 6632390 shares as of March 31 2011 and

2012 respectively 283204 289784

Total stockholders equity 148592 217047

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $491188 $705588

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated balance sheets

March 31
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ConsolidatedStatements of Income
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

In thousands except per share amounts

Revenue

Costs and expenses

Cost of services

Member relations and marketing

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment

Write-off of capitalized software

Operating income

Other income net

Income from continuing operations before provision for income taxes and

equity in loss of unconsolidated entity

Provision for income taxes

Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity

Net income from continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Loss/income from discontinued operations net of tax

Gain on sale of discontinued operations net of tax

Net loss/income from discontinued operations

Net income

Earnings per sharebasic

Net income from continuing operations

Net loss/income from discontinued operations

Net income per sharebasic

Earnings per sharediluted

Net income from continuing operations

Net Ioss/income from discontinued operations

Net income per sharediluted

Weighted average number of shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

$232610 $283439 $370345

118443 149043 203187

52533 64295 73875

32133 38225 47892

6391 5971 9033

7397

15713 25905 36358

2340 1866 3034

18053

6192

11861

428

428

11433

27771

9691

18080

444

444

18524

39392

15203
1337

22852

286

2155

2441

25293

0.77 1.15 1.39

0.03 0.03 0.15

0.74 1.18 1.54

0.76 1.10 1.32

0.03 0.03 0.14

0.73 1.13 1.46

15515 15733 16404

15692 16415 17330
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

In thousands except share amounts

Balance as of March 31 2009

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Vesting of restricted stock units net of

shares withheld to satisfy minimum

employee tax withholding

Deficient tax benefits from stock-based awards

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

under employee stock purchase plan

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchases of treasury stock

Reversal of deferred tax asset for option

cancellation

Change in net unrealized gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $94
Net income

Balance as of March 31 2010

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Vesting of restricted stock units net of

shares withheld to satisfy minimum

employee tax withholding

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

under employee stock purchase plan

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchases of treasury stock

Change in net unrealized gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $619
Net income

Balance as of March 31 2011

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Vesting of restricted stock units net of

shares withheld to satisfy minimum

employee tax withholding

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

under employee stock purchase plan

Stock-based compensation expense

Purchases of treasury stock

Change in net unrealized gains losses on

available-for-sale marketable securities

net of income taxes of $654
Net income

Accumulated

Elements of Other

Comprehensive

Income Loss

$1307

1154

18524

222

11986

1326

25293

1248

811

148

12152

3999

4700

273 273
11433 11433

274910 $111815 $11160

17776

1627

2569

1154 1154

18524 18524

2419

7593

222

11986

6580 6580

Common Shares

Stock Amount

15558894 17

Additional

Paid-in

Capital

$233794

Treasury

Stock

270911

11500 214

75364 1249

811

Comprehensive

Total Income

98899 $21235

214

5573

146179

148

12152

Retained

Earnings

$134492

11433

$145925

4700

3999

273

$103415505152 18 $239548

605641 17770

84039 1628

2569

4336 191 191

8792 8792

188930 8294 8294

16010238 $225 $267242 $164449

887755 31026

75274 2421

7593

120 283204 $148592 $17370

31034

3342

111719

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements

Balance as of March 31 2012 16864890 $235 $315648 $189742 1206

1326

25293

289784 $217047

1326

25293

$26619

37



ConsolidatedStatements of Cash Flows
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Year Ended March 31

In thousands 2010 2011 2012

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $11433 18524 25293

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment 6391 5971 9033
Write-off of capitalized software 7397
Amortization of intangible assets 1644 4723 5623
Deferred income taxes 8136 1511 85
Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 2569 7593
Stock-based compensation expense 12152 8792 11986
Amortization of marketable securities premiums 633 741 1295
Gain on sale of discontinued operations 3510
Gain on investment in common stock warrant 450
Equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 1337

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Membership fees receivable 25822 32346 104203
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1.799 3339 386

Deferred incentive compensation and other charges 10826 8663 7143
Deferred revenues 36277 56310 132279
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 9532 9573 17564
Accrued incentive compensation 4832 394 5082
Other long-term liabilities 635 6131 5950

Net cash provided by operating activities 46671 50469 92844

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment 1802 10317 29194
Capitalized external use software development costs 742 2012 2825
Cash paid for acquisition net of cash acquired 13600 42605 17694
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations net of selling costs 7803

Redemptions of marketable securities 45412 26080 25480
Purchases of marketable securities 28561 63083 65990
Other investing activities 5000 10000

Net cash used in investing activities 4293 91937 92420

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock from exercise of stock options 214 17770 31026

Withholding of shares to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding for

vested restricted stock units 1249 1628 2421
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under employee stock purchase plan 148 191 222

Excess tax benefits from stock-based awards 2569 7593
Purchases of treasury stock 3999 8294 6580

Net cash used in/provided by financing activities 4886 10608 29840

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 37492 30860 30264
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period 23746 61238 30378

Cash and cash equivalents end of period $61238 30378 60642

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Cash paid for income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements

$12958 $12068 7605
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Note Business Description

The Advisory Board Company individually and collectively with its subsidiaries the Company provides best prac

tices research and analysis software tools and management and advisory services to hospitals health systems phar

maceutical and biotech companies health care insurers medical device companies colleges universities and other

educational institutions through discrete programs Members of each program are typically charged fixed annual fee

and have access to an integrated set of services that may include best practices research studies executive education

seminars customized research briefs web-based access to the programs content database and business intelligence

and software tools

Note Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries All

significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated Certain prior-period amounts have been

reclassified to conform to the current-period presentation

The Company accounts for joint venture entities and subsidiary partnerships that are not variable interest entities in

accordance with the guidance applicable to limited partnerships or similar entities The Company evaluates the partner

ship of each joint venture entity and determines whether control over the partnership lies with the general partner or

when the limited partners have certain rights with the limited partners The Company would consolidate an investment

when both the Company is the general partner and the limited partner interests do not overcome the Companys

presumption of control by having either substantive participating rights the ability to remove the Company as the

general partner or the ability to dissolve the partnership

The Company generally uses the equity method under all other potential scenarios including where the Company

holds general partner interest but the presumption of control by the Company is overcome by the limited partner

interests as described in the preceding paragraph and where the Company holds noncontrolling limited partner

interest in joint venture Investments in which the Company has little or no influence are accounted for using the

cost method

Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

Included in cash equivalents are marketable securities with original maturities of three months or less at purchase

Investments with original maturities of more than three months are classified as marketable securities Current market

able securities have maturity dates within twelve months of the balance sheet date As of March 31 2011 and 2012 the

Companys marketable securities consisted of U.S government-sponsored enterprise obligations and various state

tax-exempt notes and bonds The Companys marketable securities which are classified as available-for-sale are

carried at fair market value based on quoted market prices The net unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale

marketable securities are excluded from net income and are included within accumulated elements of other compre

hensive income net of tax The specific identification method is used to compute the realized gains and losses on the

sale of marketable securities

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements furniture fixtures equipment capitalized internal soft

ware development costs and acquired developed technology Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumu

lated depreciation and amortization In certain membership programs the Company provides software tools under

hosting arrangement where the software application resides on the Companys or its service providers hardware The

members do not take delivery of the software and only receive access to the software tools during the term of their

membershipagreement
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Computer software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred

During the development stage direct consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees that are

directly associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software once

placed into operation Capitalized software is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life

which is generally five years Replacements and major improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repairs are

charged to expense as incurred

The acquired developed technology is classified as property and equipment because the developed software applica

tion resides on the Companys or its service providers hardware Amortization for acquired developed software is

included in the depreciation and amortization of property and equipment line item of the Companys consolidated state

ments of income Acquired developed software is amortized over its estimated useful life of nine years based on the

cash flow estimate used to determine the value of the intangible asset

Furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the

assets which range from three to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method

over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term

Business Combinations

The Company records acquisitions using the purchase method of accounting All of the assets acquired liabilities

assumed contractual contingencies and contingent consideration are recognized at their fair value on the acquisition

date All subsequent changes to valuation allowance or uncertain tax position that relate to the acquired company and

existed at the acquisition date that occur both within the measurement period and as result of facts and circum

stances that existed at the acquisition date are recognized as an adjustment to goodwill All other changes in valuation

allowance are recognized as reduction or increase to expense or as direct adjustment to additional paid-in capital

as required Any acquired in-process research and development is capitalized as an intangible asset and amortized

over its estimated useful life Acquisition-related costs are recorded as expenses in the consolidated financial state

ments The results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the consolidated financial statements from

the acquisition date

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

The excess cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill The primary

factors that generate goodwill are the value of synergies between the acquired entities and the Company and the

acquired assembled workforce neither of which qualifies as an identifiable intangible asset The Companys goodwill

and other intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but rather tested for impairment on an annual basis

on March 31 or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment The Company has

concluded that its reporting units used to assess goodwill impairment are the same as its operating segments

The Company early adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB Accounting Standard Update ASU
2011-08 IntangiblesGoodwill and Other Topic 350 Testing Goodwill for Impairment on March 31 2012 in connec
tion with the performance of its annual goodwill impairment test The new guidance provides entities with the option of

first performing qualitative assessment on reporting unit to determine whether further quantitative impairment

testing is necessary If an initial qualitative assessment identifies that it is more likely than not that the carrying value of

reporting unit exceeds its estimated fair value additional quantitative testing is performed If the quantitative testing

indicates that goodwill is impaired the carrying value of goodwill is written down to fair value If the quantitative testing

is performed the Company would determine the fair value of its reporting units based on the income approach Under

the income approach the fair value of reporting unit is calculated based on the present value of estimated future cash

flows Based on the Companys qualitative assessment as of March 31 2012 management believed that no reporting

unit was at risk of failing an impairment test that would result in material impairment charge No quantitative testing

was deemed necessary

Other intangible assets consist of capitalized software for sale and acquired intangibles The Company capitalizes

consulting costs and payroll and payroll-related costs for employees directly related to building software product

once technological feasibility is established The Company determines that technological feasibility is established by

the completion of detail program design or in its absence completion of working model Once the software product
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is ready for general availability the Company ceases capitalizing costs and begins amortizing the intangible asset on

straight-line basis over its estimated useful life The weighted average estimated useful life of capitalized software is

five years Other intangible assets include those assets that arise from business combinations consisting of developed

technology non-competition covenants trademarks contracts and customer relationships that are amortized on

straight-line basis over six months to ten years Finite-lived intangible assets are required to be amortized over their

useful lives and are evaluated for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable

Recovery of Long-Lived Assets Excluding Goodwill

The Company records long-lived assets such as property and equipment at cost The carrying value of long-lived

assets is reviewed for possible impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of assets may not be fully recoverable The test for recoverability is made using an estimate of the undiscounted

expected future cash flows and if required the impairment loss is measured as the amount that the carrying value of

the asset exceeds the assets fair value if the asset is not recoverable The Company considers expected cash flows and

estimated future operating results trends and other available information in assessing whether the carrying value of

assets is impaired If it is determined that an assets carrying value is impaired write-down of the carrying value of the

identified asset will be recorded as an operating expense on the consolidated statements of income in the period in

which the determination is made

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when there is persuasive evidence of an arrangement the fee is fixed or determinable

services have been rendered and payment has been contractually earned and collectibility is reasonably assured

Fees are generally billable when letter of agreement is signed by the member and fees receivable during the subse

quent twelve month period and related deferred revenue are recorded upon the commencement of the membershipor

collection of fees if earlier In many of the Companys higher priced programs and membership agreements with terms

that are greater than one year fees may be billed on an installment basis

Multiple-Deliverable Arrangements

In October 2009 the FASB amended the accounting standards for revenue recognition with multiple elements for

revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 The

amended guidance allows the use of managements best estimate of selling price for individual elements of an arrange

ment when vendor specific objective evidence or VSOE or third-party evidence or TPE is unavailable Additionally

the guidance eliminates the residual method of revenue recognition in accounting for multiple element arrangements

and expands the disclosure requirements for revenue recognition This guidance was adopted prospectively by the

Company on April 2011 and as result the Company has updated its accounting policy for revenue recognition

related to multiple-deliverable arrangements The Company has historically recognized and will continue to recognize

the majority of its revenue on ratable basis over the term of the memberships under the new guidance The adoption

of this guidance did not have material impact on the Companys financial position or results of operations

The Companys membershipagreements with its customers generally include more than one deliverable Deliverables

are determined based upon the availability and delivery method of the services and may include best practices research

executive education curricula web-based content databases and calculators performance or benchmarking reports

diagnostic tools interactive advisory support and software tools Access to such deliverables is generally available on

an unlimited basis over the membership period When an agreement contains multiple deliverables the Company

reviews the deliverables to determine if they qualify as separate units of accounting In orderfor deliverables in multiple-

deliverable arrangement to be treated as separate units of accounting the deliverables must have standalone value

upon delivery and delivery or performance of undelivered items in an arrangement with general right of return must

be probable If the Company determines that there are separate units of accounting arrangement consideration at the

inception of the membership period is allocated to all deliverables based on the relative selling price method in accor

dance with the selling price hierarchy which includes VSOE if available TPE if VSOE is not available or best estimate of

selling price if neither VSOE nor TPE is available
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The Companys membership programs may contain certain deliverables that do not have standalone value and there

fore are not accounted for separately In general the deliverables in membership programs are consistently available

throughout the membership period and as result the consideration is recognized ratably over the membership

period When service offering includes unlimited and limited service offerings revenue is then recognized over the

appropriate service period either ratably if the service is consistently available or if the service is not consistently

available upon the earlier of the delivery of the service or the completion of the membership period provided that all

other criteria for recognition have been met

Certain membershipprograms incorporate hosted software tools In many of these agreements members are charged

set-up fees in addition to subscription fees for access to the hosted web-based business intelligence tools and related

membership services Both set-up fees and subscription fees are recognized ratably over the term of the membership

agreement which is generally three years and is consistent with the pattern of the delivery of services under these

arrangements Upon launch of new program that incorporates software tool all program revenue is deferred until

the program is generally available for release to the Companys membership and then recognized ratably over the

remainder of the contract term of each agreement

The Company also performs professional services sold under separate agreements that include management and

consulting services The Company recognizes professional services revenues on time-and-materials basis as services

are rendered

Allowance for Uncollectible Revenue

The Companys ability to collect outstanding receivables from its members has an effect on the Companys operating

performance and cash flows The Company records an allowance for uncollectible revenue as reduction of revenue

based on its ongoing monitoring of members credit and the aging of receivables To determine the allowance for

uncollectible revenue the Company examines its collections history the age of accounts receivable in question any

specific member collection issues that have been identified general market conditions arid current economic trends

Membership fees receivable balances are not collateralized

Deferred Incentive Compensation and Other Charges

Incentive compensation to employees related to the negotiation of new and renewal memberships license fees to third-

party vendors for tools data and software incorporated in specific memberships that include software tools and other

direct and incremental costs associated with specific memberships are deferred and amortized over the term of the

related memberships

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares out

standing during the period Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the number of weighted

average common shares increased by the dilutive effects of potential common shares outstanding during the period

The number of potential common shares outstanding is determined in accordance with the treasury stock method

using the Companys prevailing tax rates Certain potential common share equivalents were not included in the compu
tation because their effect was anti-dilutive Fully diluted shares outstanding for the fiscal year ended March 31 2012

includes 55187 contingently issuable shares related to the component of the Southwind Health Partners L.L.C and

Southwind Navigator LLC together Southwind earn-out estimated to be settled in stock For additional information

regarding these shares see Note Fair value measurements

reconciliation of basic to diluted weighted average common shares outstanding is as follows in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 15515 15733 16404

Effect of dilutive outstanding stock-based awards 177 649 871

Dilutive impact of earn-out
liability 33 55

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 15692 16415 17330
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In the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 1.75 million 0.5 million and 39000 shares respectively

related to share-based compensation awards have been excluded from the calculation of the effect of dilutive outstand

ing stock-based awards shown above because their effect was anti-dilutive

Concentrations of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of

membership fees receivable cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities The credit risk with respect

to membership fees receivable is generally diversified due to the large number of entities comprising the Companys

membership base and the Company establishes allowances for potential credit losses No one member accounted for

more than 1% of revenue for any period presented The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable

securities with financial institutions Marketable securities consist of U.S government-sponsored enterprise obligations

and various state tax-exempt notes and bonds The Company performs periodic evaluations of the relative credit ratings

related to the cash cash equivalents and marketable securities

In the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 the Company generated approximately 4.0% of revenue from members outside

the United States For each of the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 and 2012 the Company generated approximately

3.5% of revenue from members outside the United States The Companys limited international operations subject the

Company to risks related to currency exchange fluctuations Prices for the Companys services sold to members located

outside the United States are sometimes denominated in local currencies As consequence increases in the U.S

dollar against local currencies in countries where the Company has members would result in foreign exchange loss

recognized by the Company

Other Income Net

Other income net for the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 includes $2.3 million of interest income earned from the

Companys marketable securities and $46000 gain on foreign exchange rates Other income net for the fiscal year

ended March 31 2011 includes $1.7 million of interest income earned from the Companys marketable securities and

$158000 gain on foreign exchange rates Other income net for the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 includes $2.4

million of interest income earned from the Companys marketable securities $149000 gain on foreign exchange

rates and $450000 gain on an investment in common stock warrants

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using the asset and liability method Under this method temporary differences

arise as result of the difference between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases Deferred

tax assets are reduced by valuation allowance when in the opinion of management it is more likely than not that some

portion or the entire deferred tax asset will not be realized Deferred tax assets and liabilities are adjusted for the effects

of changes in tax law and tax rates on the date of the enactment of the change

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Companys financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents marketable securities membership fees

receivable accrued expenses and accounts payable The carrying value of the Companys financial instruments as

of March 31 2011 and 2012 approximates their fair value due to their short term nature The Companys marketable

securities consisting of U.S government-sponsored enterprise obligations and various state tax-exempt notes and

bonds are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair market value based on quoted market prices The

Companys financial instruments also include cost method investment in the convertible preferred stock of company

that provides revenue-cycle technology This investment is in preferred security that is not marketable therefore it is

not practicable to estimate the fair value of this financial instrument

Derivative Instruments

The Company holds warrants to purchase common stock in an entity that meet the definition of derivative Derivative

instruments are carried at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets Gains or losses from changes in the fair value

of the warrants are recognized on the consolidated statements of income in the period in which they occur
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Discontinued Operations

The Company presents the assets and liabilities of programs which meet the criteria for discontinued operations

separately in the consolidated balance sheets In addition the results of operations for those discontinued operations

are presented as such in the Companys consolidated statements of income For periods prior to the program qualifying

for discontinued operations the Company reclassifies the results of operations to discontinued operations In addition

the net gain or loss including any impairment loss on the disposal is presented as discontinued operations when

recognized The change in presentation for discontinued operations does not have any impact on the Companys

financial condition or results of operations The Company combines the operating investing and financing portions of

cash flows attributable to discontinued operations with the respective cash flows from continuing operations on the

accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows

Research and Development Costs

Costs related to the research and development of new programs are expensed when incurred Research and develop

ment costs were immaterial for the fiscal years presented

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has several stock-based compensation plans which are described more fully in Note 12 Stock-based

compensation These plans provide for the granting of stock options and restricted stock units RSUs to employees

and non-employee members of the Companys Board of Directors Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the

grant date of the stock-based awards based on their fair values and is recognized as an expense in the consolidated

statements of income over the vesting periods of the awards The fair value of RSUs is determined as the fair market

value of the underlying shares on the date of grant The Company calculates the fair value of all stock option awards

with the exception of the stock options issued with market-based conditions on the date of grant using the Black

Scholes model The fair value of stock options issued with market-based conditions is calculated on the date of grant

using lattice option-pricing model Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and

adjusted if necessary in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates The Company bases its

fair value estimates on assumptions it believes to be reasonable but that are inherently uncertain

Operating Leases

The Company recognizes rent expense under operating leases on straight-line basis over the non-cancelable term of

the lease including free-rent periods Lease-incentives relating to allowances provided by landlords are amortized over

the term of the lease as reduction of rent expense The Company recognizes sublease income on straight-line basis

over the term of the sublease including free rent periods and escalations as reduction of rent expense Costs associ

ated with acquiring subtenant including broker commissions and tenant allowances are amortized over the sublease

term as reduction of sublease income

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements

The Companys consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America GAAP These accounting principles require the Company to make certain

estimates judgments and assumptions For cases where the Company is required to make certain estimates judg

ments and assumptions the Company believes that the estimates judgments and assumptions upon which it relies

are reasonable based upon information available to the Company at the time that these estimates judgments and

assumptions are made These estimates judgments and assumptions can affect the reported amounts of assets and

liabilities as of the date of the financial statements as well as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the

periods presented To the extent there are material differences between these estimates judgments or assumptions

and actual results the Companys financial statements will be affected The Companys estimates judgments and

assumptions may include estimates of bad debt reserves estimates of the fair value of warrants to purchase common

stock estimates to establish employee bonus and commission accruals estimates of the fair value of contingent

earn-out liabilities estimates of the useful lives of acquired or internally developed intangible assets estimates of the

fair value of goodwill and intangibles and evaluation of impairment determination of when investment impairments are

other-than-temporary estimates in stock-based compensation forfeiture rates and estimates of the potential for future

tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Companys financial statements or tax returns
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Changes to GAAP are established by the FASB in the form of ASUs to the FASBs Accounting Standards Codification

The Company considers the applicability and impact of all recent ASUs ASUs not listed below were assessed and

determined to be not applicable or are expected to have minimal impact on the Companys consolidated financial

position and results of operations

Recently Adopted

The following is summary of the new accounting guidance issued and applicable to the Company for the fiscal year

ended March 31 2012

In October 2009 the FASB amended the accounting standards for revenue arrangements with software elements

The amended guidance modifies the scope of the software revenue recognition guidance to exclude tangible products

that contain both software and non-software components that function together to deliver the products essential

functionality The pronouncement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after June 15 2010 This guidance was

adopted by the Company on April 2011 The adoption of this guidance did not have material impact on the Companys

financial position or results of operations

The Company adopted the amended accounting standards for revenue recognition with multiple elements on April

2011 as discussed above

In September 2011 the FASB issued amendments to the goodwill impairment guidance which allows companies to

assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill impair

ment test If an entity believes as result of its qualitative assessment that it is more likely than not that the fair value

of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount the quantitative two-step goodwill impairment test is required An

entity has the unconditional option to bypass the qualitative assessment and proceed directly to performing the first

step of the quantitative goodwill impairment test The Company early adopted this guidance on March 31 2012 The

adoption of this guidance did not have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

In May 2011 the FASB issued amendments to the disclosure requirements for common fair value measurement This

amendment represents the converged guidance of the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board on fair

value measurement The guidance clarifies how principal market is determined addresses the fair value measurement

of instruments with offsetting market or counterparty credit risks addresses the concept of valuation premise and

highest and best use extends the prohibition on blockage factors to all three levels of the fair value hierarchy and

requires additional disclosures The Company adopted this guidance on January 2012 The adoption of this guidance

did not have material effect on the Companys financial position or results of operations

Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In June 2011 the FASB amended its guidance on the presentation of comprehensive income in financial statements to

improve the comparability consistency and transparency of financial reporting and to increase the prominence of

items that are recorded in other comprehensive income The new accounting guidance requires entities to report com

ponents of comprehensive income in either single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate

but consecutive statements The new guidance eliminates the option to present components of other comprehensive

income as part of the statement of equity The provisions of this new guidance are effective for fiscal years and interim

periods within those years beginning after December 15 2011 In December 2011 the FASB issued an update which

indefinitely defers the guidance related to the presentation of reclassification adjustments for each component of accu

mulated other comprehensive income in both net income and other comprehensive income on the face of the financial

statements The update is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after December 15 2011 and interim

periods within that fiscal year The Company does not expect the adoption of this guidance to have material effect on

its financial position or results of operations
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Note Acquisitions

PivotHealth

On August 2011 the Company acquired for cash substantially all the assets of PivotHealth LLC PivotHealth

leading physician practice management firm The Company acquired PivotHealth to supplement its existing physician

practice management capabilities and provide new growth opportunities with the addition of PivotHealths expertise in

long-term physician practice management The total purchase price net of cash acquired of $19.8 million consisted of

an initial payment of $15.0 million of cash the fair value of estimated additional contingent cash payments of $2.9

million and an additional $1.9 million placed into escrow which can be released through the first anniversary of the

acquisition date as certain indemnity conditions are satisfied The additional contingent cash payments which have no

guaranteed minimum or maximum will become due and payable to the former owner of the PivotHealth business if cer

tain revenue targets are achieved over the evaluation periods beginning at the acquisition date and extending through

December 31 2014 $0.2 million upward adjustment was made to the fair value of the contingent liabilities during the

period from acquisition to March 31 2012 This adjustment was recorded in cost of services on the accompanying

consolidated statements of income and increased the liability to $3.1 million as of March 31 2012 See Note Fair

value measurements for further details

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed based

on their estimated fair values as of August 2011 The Companys fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible

assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with valuation using an income approach

from market participant perspective Of the total estimated purchase price $1.8 million was allocated to acquired

tangible assets $1.0 million was allocated to assumed liabilities and $6.4 million was allocated to intangible assets

which consist of the value assigned to customer related intangibles of $6.0 million primarily customer relationships and

trademarks and employee related intangibles of $0.4 million The acquired customer and employee related intangibles

have estimated lives ranging from six months to nine years based on the cash flow estimates used to create the valua

tion models of each identifiable asset with weighted average amortization period of 6.5 years Approximately $12.6

million was allocated to goodwill which represents synergistic benefits expected to be generated from scaling

PivotHealths offerings across the Companys large membershipbase Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.4 million including actual and estimated legal accounting and other profes

sional fees directly related to the acquisition are included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying

consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 The financial results of PivotHealth

are included in the Companys consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition Pro forma financial

information for this acquisition has not been presented because the effects were not material to the Companys

historical consolidated financial statements

Cielo

On February 2011 the Company acquired for cash substantially all the assets of Cielo MedSolutions LLC Cielo
leading provider of population management analytics and patient registry software in the ambulatory environment The

Company acquired Cielo to enhance its existing suite of physician performance management solutions through the

addition of analytics and workflow tools that give providers visibility across patient population to enable appropriate

clinical decisions The total purchase price of $11.7 million consisted of an initial payment of $7.3 million of cash and

the initial fair value of estimated additional contingent cash payments of $4.4 million These additional contingent

payments which will not exceed $7.3 million will become due and payable to the former owner of the Cielo business if

certain product development and subscription milestones are met over the evaluation periods beginning at the acquisi

tion date and extending through July 31 2012 $0.1 million downward adjustment was made to the fair value of the

contingent liabilities during the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 This adjustment was recorded in cost of services on

the accompanying consolidated statements of income As of March 31 2012 the portion of the contingent payments

relating to the product development milestones had been finalized and total of approximately $3.0 million had been

earned by and paid to the former owner of the Cielo business The fair value of the remaining contingent liability was

$1.3 million as of March 31 2012 See Note Fair value measurements for further details The Company allocated
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$3.8 million to intangible assets with weighted average amortization period of five years and allocated $8.1 million to

goodwill which represents synergistic benefits expected to be generated from scaling Cielos offerings across the

Companys large membershipbase Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed based

on their estimated fair values as of February 2011 The Companys fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible

assets was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with valuation using an income approach

from market participant perspective Of the total estimated purchase price $0.4 million was allocated to acquired

assets $0.4 million was allocated to assumed liabilities and $3.8 million was allocated to intangible assets which

consist of the value assigned to acquired technology related intangibles of $3.0 million and customer relationships and

employee related intangibles of $0.8 million

Acquisition related transaction costs of $0.4 million including actual and estimated legal accounting and other profes

sional fees directly related to the acquisition are included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying

consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 The financial results of Cielo are included in

the Companys consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition Pro forma financial information for this

acquisition has not been presented because the effects were not material to the Companys historical consolidated

financial statements

Concuity

On April 2010 the Company acquired for cash all outstanding shares of the health care division of Trintech Group plc

Concuity leading provider of contract and payment management solution for hospitals and physician groups

The Company acquired Concuity to supplement its revenue cycle portfolio by incorporating Concuitys web-based

ClearContracts software tool into new program The total purchase price consisted of an initial payment of $34.0

million and an additional $4.0 million placed into escrow which was to be released through December 31 2011 as

certain business performance and indemnity conditions were satisfied At the time of the acquisition and through

September 30 2011 the fair value of this contingent consideration was estimated to be $4.0 million As result

of events that occurred between September 30 2011 and December 31 2011 it was determined that the business

performance conditions were not satisfied As result the $4.0 million escrow was released and the Company

recognized gain through cost of services on the accompanying consolidated statements of income representing the

reduction in the fair value of the contingent consideration liability from $4.0 million to zero For additional information

see Note Fair value measurements The Company allocated $11.3 million to intangible assets with weighted

average amortization period of five years Approximately $21.8 million was allocated to goodwill which represents

synergistic benefits expected to be generated from scaling Concuitys offerings across the Companys large member

ship base Goodwill is deductible for tax purposes

The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired including intangible assets and liabilities assumed based

on their estimated fair values as of April 2010 The Companys fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets

was determined by using estimates and assumptions in combination with valuation using an income approach from

market participant perspective Of the total estimated purchase price $14.1 million was allocated to acquired tangible

assets $3.0 million was allocated to assumed liabilities and $5.0 million was allocated to intangible assets which

consist of the value assigned to customer related intangibles of $4.0 million primarily customer relationships and

trademarks employee related intangibles of $0.5 million and trademarks of $0.5 million The acquired developed

technology customer related intangible assets employee related intangible assets and trademarks have estimated

lives of 5.0 years 5.0 years 5.0 years and 4.0 years respectively which is consistent with the cash flow estimates

used to create the valuation models of each identifiable asset The acquired developed technology customer related

intangible assets employee related intangible assets and trademarks are included in intangible assets net on consoli

dated balance sheets

Acquisition related transaction costs of $1.1 million including legal accounting and other professional fees directly

related to the acquisition are included in general and administrative expenses on the accompanying consolidated state

ments of income for the fiscal year ended March 31 2010
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Note Investment in Unconsolidated Entity

On August 31 2011 the Company entered into an agreement with UPMC to establish Evolent Health Inc Evolent for

the purpose of driving provider-led value-driven care with innovative technology integrated data and analytics and

services The Company provided $10.0 million and other non-cash contributions to Evolent for an initial equity interest

of 44% and the right to appoint one person to Evolents board of directors In addition member of the Companys

Board of Directors serves as the chief executive officer for Evolent As of March 31 2012 the Companys equity interest

in Evolent was 39% The Company exercises significant influence over Evolent but does not control Evolent and is not

the primary beneficiary of Evolents activities The Companys investment in Evolent is accounted for under the equity

method of accounting with the Companys proportionate share of the income or loss recognized in the consolidated

statements of income This investment will be evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that there may be an other-than-temporary decline in value The Company believes that no such impairment

indicators existed during the fiscal year ended March 31 2012

Note Other Non-Current Assets

In June 2009 the Company invested in the convertible preferred stock of private company that provides technology

tools and support services to health care providers including the Companys members In addition the Company

entered into licensing agreement with that company As part of its investment the Company received warrants to

purchase up to 6015000 shares of the companys common stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share as certain

performance criteria are met The warrants are exercisable through June 19 2019 The warrants contain net settle

ment feature and therefore are considered to be derivative financial instrument The warrants are recorded at their fair

value which was $450000 as of March 31 2012 and zero as of March 31 2011 and are included in other non-current

assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The change in the fair value of the warrants is recorded in

other income net on the accompanying consoVidated statements of income For additional information regarding the

fair value of these warrants see Note Fair value measurements The convertible preferred stock investment is

recorded at cost and the carrying amount of this investment as of March 31 2012 of $5.0 million is included in other

non-current assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The convertible preferred stock accrues

dividends at an annual rate of 8% that are payable if and when declared by the investees board of directors As of March

31 2012 no dividends had been declared by the investee or recorded by the Company This investment is reviewed for

impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of this asset may not be

recoverable The Company believes that no such impairment indicators existed during the fiscal year ended March 31

2011 or 2012

Note Discontinued Operations

On January 20 2012 the Company sold its OptiLink business to Kronos Incorporated Kronos for $8.9 million in

cash net of selling costs The OptiLink business which is headquartered in suburb of Portland Oregon employed

approximately 35 employees who transferred to Kronos The carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and

liabilities sold consisted of in thousands
March 31

2011 2012

Assets

Membership fees receivable net 2604

Property and equipment net
38

Intangible assets net 2455

Goodwill 5426

Total assets 10523

Current liabilities 3590

Net assets sold 6933
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The components of discontinued operations included in the consolidated statements of income consisted of in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Revenue $6713 6809 4985

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 5969 5353 4330

Member relations and marketing 1395 774 189

Gain on disposal 3510

Loss/income from discontinued operations before provision for income taxes 651 682 3976

Benefit/provision for income taxes 223 238 1535

Net loss/income from discontinued operations net of provision for income taxes 428 4.44 2441

Note Marketable Securities

The aggregate value amortized cost gross unrealized gains and gross unrealized losses on available-for-sale market

able securities are as follows in thousands
As of March 31 2012

Gross Gross

Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Value Cost Gains Losses

U.S government-sponsored enterprises 33.472 33543 130 201

Tax exempt obligations of other states 93.972 92028 2667 723

$127444 $125571 $2797 924

As of March 31 2011

Gross Gross

Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized

Value Cost Gains Losses

U.S government-sponsored enterprises 23721 24042 164 485

Tax exempt obligations of other states 62458 62310 1109 961

86179 86352 $1273 $1446

The following table summarizes marketable securities maturities in thousands
As of March 31 2012

Fair Market Amortized

Value Cost

Matures in less than year 4823 4734

Matures after year through years 34786 33557

Matures after years through 10 years 87835 87280

127444 $125571

There were no gross realized gains or losses on sales of available-for-sale investments in the fiscal year ended March 31

2012 The gross realized losses on sales of available-for-sale investments were $23000 and $124000 for the fiscal

years ended March 31 2010 and 2011 respectively

The weighted average maturity on all marketable securities held by the Company as of March 31 2012 was approxi

mately 6.7 years Pre-tax net unrealized gains on the Companys investments of $1.9 million as indicated above were

caused by the decrease in market interest rates compared to the average interest rate of the Companys marketable

securities portfolio Of this amount $89000 is related to investments that mature before March 31 2013 The Company

purchased certain of its investments at premiumor discount to their relative fair values The Company does not intend

to sell these investments and it is not more likely than not that it will be required to sell the investments before recovery

of the amortized cost bases which may be maturity therefore the Company does not consider these investments to be

other-than-temporarily impaired as of March 31 2012 The Company has reflected the net unrealized gains and losses
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net of tax in accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The

Company uses the specific identification method to determine the cost of marketable securities that are sold

Note Fair Value Measurements

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The estimated fair values of financial instruments are determined based on relevant market information These

estimates involve uncertainty and cannot be determined with precision The Companys financial instruments consist

primarily of cash cash equivalents marketable securities and common stock warrants In addition contingent earn-

out liabilities resulting from business combinations are recorded at fair value The following methods and assumptions

are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial assets or liabilities that are valued on recurring basis

Cash and cash equivalents This includes all cash and liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or

less from the date acquired The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of these

instruments Cash equivalents consist of money market funds with original maturity dates of less than three months

for which the fair value is based on quoted market prices The Companys cash and cash equivalents are held at major

commercial banks

Marketable securities The Companys marketable securities consisting of U.S government-sponsored enterprise

obligations and various state tax-exempt notes and bonds are classified as available-for-sale and are carried at fair

market value based on quoted market prices

Common stock warrants The Company holds warrants to purchase common stock in an entity that provides technology

tools and support services to health care providers including the Companys members that are exercisable for up to

6015000 of the shares of the entity as certain performance criteria are met The common stock warrants meet the

definition of derivative and are carried at fair value in other non-current assets on the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets Gains or losses from changes in the fair value of the warrants are recognized in other income net on the

accompanying consolidated statements of income See Note Other non-current assets for additional information

The fair value of these warrants is determined using Black-Scholes-Merton model Key inputs into this methodology

are the estimate of underlying value of the common shares of the entity that issued the warrants and the estimate of

level of performance criteria that will be achieved The entity that issued the warrants is private and the estimate of

performance criteria to be met is Company specific These inputs are unobservable and are considered key estimates

made by the Company

Contingent earn-out liabilities This class of financial liabilities represents the Companys estimated fair value of the

contingent earn-out liabilities related to acquisitions based on probability assessments of certain performance achieve

ments during the earn-out periods Contingent earn-out liabilities are included in other long-term liabilities on the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets See Note Acquisitions for additional information

Measurements

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer liability an exit price

in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market partici

pants at the measurement date The valuation can be determined using widely accepted valuation techniques such as

the market approach comparable market prices the income approach present value of future income or cash flow

and the cost approach cost to replace the service capacity of an asset or replacement cost As basis for applying

market-based approach in fair value measurements GAAP establishes fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs

to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into three broad levels The following is brief description of those

three levels

Level 1Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2Observable market-based inputs other than Level inputs such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabili

ties in active markets quoted prices for similar or identical assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or other

inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data

Level 3Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity such as discounted cash flow

methodologies
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Assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements

The Company reviews the fair value hierarchy classification on quarterly basis Changes in the observability of valua

tion inputs may result in reclassification of levels for certain securities within the fair value hierarchy There were no

significant transfers between Level Level or Level during the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 or 2012

The Companys population of financial assets and liabilities subject to fair value measurementon recurring basis and

the necessary disclosures are as follows in thousands

Fair Value
Fair Value Measurement

as of
as of March 31 2011 Using Fair

March 31
Value Hierarchy

2011 Level Level Level

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents1 30378 30378

Available-for-sale marketable securities2 86179 86179

Financial liabilities

Contingent earn-out liabilities3 15.500 15500

Fair Value
Fair Value Measurement as of

as of
March 31 2012 Using Fair

March 31
Value Hierarchy

2012 Level Level Level

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents11 60642 60642

Available-for-sale marketable securities2 127444 127.444

Common stock warrants4 450 450

Financial liabilities

Contingent earn-out liabilities3 20.200 20200

Fair value is based on quoted market prices

Fair value is determined using quoted market prices of the assets For further detail see Note Marketable securities

This fair value measurement is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the Companys own assump

tions in measuring fair value using the income approach In developing these estimates the Company considered certain performance projections

historical results and general macro-economic environment and industry trends

The fair value of the common stock warrants as of March 31 2012 was calculated to be $0.26 per share using Black-Scholes-Merton model The

significant assumptions were as follows risk-free interest rate of 1.9% expected term of Z22 years expected volatility of 41.51% dividend yield of

0.0% weighted average exercise price of $1.00 per share and range of warrants to become exercisable of between 1400000 and 1800000

shares Prior to December 31 2011 the assumptions concerning the value of the underlying common stock and the range of warrants that would

become exercisable resulted in the fair value of the warrants being insignificant

Common Stock Warrants

The Companys fair value estimate of the common stock warrants received in connection with its June 2009 investment

was zero as of the investment date Changes in the fair value of the common stock warrants subsequent to the invest

ment date are recognized in earnings in the periods when the estimated fair value changes The change in the fair value

during the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 was primarily driven by an increase in the estimated value of the common

stock of the entity that issued the warrants combined with increases in the estimated performance targets that will be

achieved The following table represents reconciliation of the change in the fair value of the common stock warrants

for the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 and 2012 in thousands
As of March 31

2011 2012

Beginning balance

Fair value change in common stock warrants1 450

Ending balance $450

Amounts were recognized in other income net on the accompanying consolidated statements of income
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Contingent Earn-Out Liabilities

The Company entered into an earn-out agreement in connection with its acquisition of Southwind on December 31

20D9 The Companys fair value estimate of the Southwind earn-out liability was $5.6 million as of the date of acqui

sition As of March 31 2012 based on current facts and circumstances the estimated aggregate fair value of this

contingent obligation was increased to $15.8 million which will be paid at various intervals if earned over the evaluation

periods beginning on the acquisition date and extending through December 31 2014 As of March 31 2012 $1.9 million

has been earned and paid to the former owners The final amount paid will be made in combination of cash and/or the

Companys common stock The Companys fair value estimate of the Cielo earn-out liability which is payable in cash

was $4.4 million as of the date of acquisition The estimated aggregate fair value of the remaining contingent obligation

for Cielo as of March 31 2012 was $1.3 million The Companys fair value estimate of the FivotHealth earn-out liability

which is payable in cash was $2.9 million as of the date of acquisition The estimated aggregate fair value of the contin

gent obligation for PivotHealth as of March 31 2012 was $3.1 million The Companys fair value estimate of the Concuity

earn-out liability which was payable in cash was $4.0 million as of the date of acquisition This liability was released in

December 2011 and the Company no longer has contingent obligation with respect to the Concuity acquisition

Changes in the fair value of the contingent earn-out liabilities subsequent to the acquisition date including changes aris

ing from events that occurred after the acquisition date such as changes in the Companys estimate of performance

achievements discount rates and stock price are recognized in earnings in the periods when the estimated fair value

changes The following table represents reconciliation of the change in the contingent earn-out liabilities for the fiscal

years ended March 31 2011 and 2012 in thousands
As of March 31

2011 2012

Beginning balance 5600 $15500

Fair value change in Southwind contingent earn-out liability 1500 10600

Fair value change in Cielo contingent earn-out Iiability1 100
Fair value change in PivotHealth contingent earn-out liability 200

Southwind earn-out payment 1900
Cielo earn-out payment 3000
Addition of Concuity contingent earn-out

liability 4000

Addition of Cielo contingent earn-out liability 4400

Addition of PivotHealth contingent earn-out liability 2900

Reduction of Concuity contingent earn-out liability1 4000

Ending balance $15500 $20200

Amounts were recognized in cost of services on the accompanying consolidated statements of income

Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

Certain assets and liabilities are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis but instead are measured at fair value on

non-recurring basis that is such assets and liabilities are subject to fair value adjustments in certain circumstances

e.g when there is evidence of impairment As of September 30 2009 the Company concluded that certain capital

ized software development costs were not fully recoverable based on projected cash flows attributable to those assets

As result certain assets held and used with carrying amount of $8.8 million as of September 30 2009 were written

down to fair value of $1.4 million resulting in pre-tax impairment charge of $7.4 million The Company utilized the

discounted cash flow method to determine the fair value of the capitalized software assets as of September 30 2009
Cash flows were determined based on the Companys estimates of future operating results and discounted using an

internal rate of return consistent with that used by the Company to evaluate cash flows of other assets of similar

nature Due to the significant unobservable inputs inherent in discounted cash flow methodologies this method is

classified as Level in the fair value hierarchy For additional information related to this impairment see Note

Property and equipment

During the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 and 2012 no fair value adjustments or material fair value measurements

were required for non-financial assets or liabilities
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Note Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consists of leasehold improvements furniture fixtures equipment capitalized internal

software development costs and acquired developed technology Property and equipment is stated at cost less

accumulated depreciation and amortization In certain of its membership programs the Company provides software

tools under hosting arrangements where the software application resides on the Companys or its service providers

hardware The members do not take delivery of the software and only receive access to the software tools during the

term of their membership agreement Software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are

expensed as incurred During the development stage direct consulting costs and payroll-related costs for employees

that are directly associated with each project are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software

once placed into operation Capitalized software is amortized using the straight-line method over its estimated useful

life which is generally five years Replacements and major improvements are capitalized while maintenance and repairs

are charged to expense as incurred

The acquired developed technology is classified as software within property and equipment because the developed

software application resides on the Companys or its service providers hardware Amortization for acquired developed

software is included in depreciation and amortization of property and equipment on the Companys consolidated

statements of income Developed software obtained through acquisitions is amortized over its weighted average

estimated useful life of approximately nine years based on the cash flow estimate used to determine the value of the

asset The amount of acquired developed software amortization included in depreciation and amortization of property

and equipment for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 was approximately $0.3 million $0.4 million

and $0.9 million respectively

Furniture fixtures and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the

assets which range from three to seven years Leasehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method

over the shorter of the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease term There are no capitalized leases included in

property and equipment for the periods presented The amount of depreciation expense recognized on plant property

and equipment during the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 was $6.4 million $6.0 million and $9.0

million respectively

Internally developed capitalized software is classified as software within property and equipment and has an estimated

useful life of five years As of March 31 2011 and 2012 the carrying value of internally developed capitalized software is

$7.7 million and $15.1 million respectively Property and equipment consists of the following in thousands

As of March 31

2011 2012

Leasehold improvements
15696 23692

Furniture fixtures and equipment
18472 26529

Software 30524 43211

64692 93432

Accumulated depreciation and amortization 35201 43779

Property and equipment net 29491 49653

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment when changes in circumstances exist that suggests the

carrying value of long-lived asset may not be fully recoverable If an indication of impairment exists and the Companys

net book value of the related assets is not fully recoverable based upon an analysis of its estimated undiscounted future

cash flows the assets are written down to their estimated fair value The Company did not recognize any material

impairment losses on any of its long-lived assets during the fiscal year ended March 31 2011 or 2012 As of September

30 2009 the Company concluded that certain capitalized software development costs were not fully recoverable

As result the Company recognized pre-tax impairment charge on capitalized software of $7.4 million during the

three months ended September 30 2009 For further discussion of the impairment and the valuation method used see

Note Fair value measurements
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Note 10 Goodwill and Intangibles

Included in the Companys goodwill and intangibles balances are goodwill and acquired intangibles and internally devel

oped capitalized software for sale Goodwill is not amortized as it has an estimated infinite life Goodwill is reviewed for

impairment at least annually as of March 31 or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of an asset may not be recoverable The Company believes that no such impairment indicators existed during

the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 2011 or 2012 There was no impairment of goodwill recorded in the fiscal year

ended March 31 2010 2011 or 2012

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows in thousands
As of March 31

2011 2012

Beginning of year $31829 $61729

Goodwill acquired 29900 12506

Ending balance $61729 $74235

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized on straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which range

from six months to ten years As of March 31 2012 the weighted average remaining useful life of acquired intangibles

was approximately 4.9 years As of March 31 2C12 the weighted average remaining useful life of internally developed

intangibles was approximately 4.2 years

The gross and net carrying balances and accumulated amortization of intangibles are as follows in thousands

As of March 31 2011 As of March 31 2012

Weighted Gross Net Gross Net

Average Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Useful Life Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Intangibles

Internally developed intangible for sale

Capitalized software 5.0 1103 36 1067 3048 380 2668

Acquired intangibles

Developed software 4.9 6988 1988 5000 6450 2567 3883
Customer relationships 7.5 8200 1320 6880 11900 2914 8986
Trademarks 3.7 2000 500 1500 2700 1625 1075

Non-compete agreements 4.3 750 205 545 1100 393 707

Customer contracts 4.9 3713 2710 1003 5199 3134 2065

Total other intangibles $22754 $6759 $15995 $30397 $11013 $19384

Amortization expense for intangible assets for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 recorded in

cost of services on the accompanying consolidated statements of income was approximately $1.6 million $4.7 million

and $5.6 million respectively The following approximates the anticipated aggregate amortization expense to be

recorded in cost of services on the consolidated statements of income for each of the following five fiscal years ending

March 31 2013 through 2017 $4.5 million $4.5 million $4.3 million $1.5 million and $1.0 million respectively and

$2.3 million thereafter

Note 11 Membership Fees Receivable

Membership fees receivable consist of the following in thousands
As of March 31

2011 2012

Billed fees receivable 37372 60063

Unbilled fees receivable 144071 227061

181443 287.124

Allowance for uncollectible revenue 4885 5540

Membership fees receivable net $176558 $281584
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Billed fees receivable represent invoiced membership fees Unbilled fees receivable represent fees due to be billed to

members who have elected to pay for their membershipon an installment basis and all of the unbilled fees recorded are

expected to be billed in the next twelve months

Note 12 Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

The Company issues awards including stock options and RSUs under the Companys 2005 Stock Incentive Plan the

2005 Plan and 2009 Stock Incentive Plan the 2009 Plan and issued such awards through September 11 2009

under the Companys 2006 Stock Incentive Plan the 2006 Plan Upon approval of the 2009 Plan by the Companys

stockholders on September 11 2009 the 2006 Plan was frozen with respect to new awards

On September 13 2011 the Companys stockholders approved an amendment to the 2009 Plan that increased the

number of shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the plan by 1250000 shares The aggregate number

of shares of the Companys common stock available for issuance under the 2009 Plan as amended may not exceed

2305000 shares plus the number of shares that remained available for issuance under the 2006 Plan as of June 26

2009 and the number of shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2006 Plan that on or after such date cease

for any reason to be subject to such awards other than reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they

are exercised for or settled in vested and non-forfeitable shares Stock-based awards granted under the 2006 Plan and

the 2009 Plan have five-year maximum contractual term The aggregate number of shares of the Companys common

stock available for issuance under the 2005 Plan may not exceed 1600000 shares plus the number of shares that

remained available for issuance under the Companys 2001 Stock Incentive Plan the 2001 Plan as of November 15

2005 and shares subject to outstanding awards under the 2001 Plan that on or after such date cease for any reason to

be subject to such awards other than reason of exercise or settlement of the awards to the extent they are exercised for

or settled in vested and non-forfeitable shares Stock-based awards granted under the 2005 Plan have seven-year

maximum contractual term As of March 31 2012 there were 1270491 shares available for issuance under the 2009

Plan and 484817 shares available for issuance under the 2005 Plan

The 2009 Plan and the 2005 Plan the Plans are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Companys

Board of Directors which has the authority to determine which officers directors and employees are awarded options

or share awards pursuant to the Plans and to determine the terms of the awards Grants may consist of treasury shares

or newly issued shares Options are rights to purchase common stock of the Company at the fair market value on the

date of grant The exercise price of stock option or other equity-based award is equal to the closing price of the

Companys common stock on the date of grant The Company generally awards non-qualified options but the Plans

permit the issuance of options intended to qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue

Code Holders of options do not participate in dividends if any until after the exercise of the award RSUs are equity

settled stock-based compensation arrangements of number of shares of the Companys common stock RSU holders

do not participate in dividends if any nor do they have voting rights until the restrictions lapse

Stock Option Activity

During the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 the Company granted 950050 297500 and 300706

stock options respectively with weighted average exercise price of $19.04 $34.75 and $49.95 respectively The

weighted average fair values of the stock option grants are listed in the stock option valuation section below During the

fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 participants exercised 11500 605641 and 887755 options for

total intrinsic value of $0.1 million $9.8 million and $27.1 million respectively Intrinsic value is calculated as the num

ber of shares exercised times the Companys stock price at exercise less the exercise price of the option

In September 2009 certain members of the Companys senior management and Board of Directors voluntarily surren

dered an aggregate of 830025 stock options both vested and unvested having exercise prices between $51.56 per

share and $60.60 per share The individuals who surrendered options received no consideration in return and were not

promised any consideration in return such as future equity grants to replace the surrendered options The Company

does not plan to vary its equity grant practices as result of this cancellation The Company accelerated the remaining

expense on these cancelled awards which resulted in pre-tax charges of approximately $0.7 million recorded in cost of

services $0.1 million recorded in member relations and marketing and $1.1 million recorded in general and administra

tive expense during the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 This cancellation resulted in the reversal of $4.7 million of

deferred tax assets that would no longer be realized The reversal of these deferred tax assets resulted in decrease to

additional paid-in capital as the Company has sufficient pool of excess tax benefits
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Restricted Stock Unit Activity

During the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 the Company granted 76500 266314 and 232350
RSUs respectively The valuation of RSUs is determined as the fair market value of the underlying shares on the date of

grant The weighted average grant date fair value of RSUs granted for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and

2012 was $18.52 $33.85 and $49.62 respectively During the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012

participants vested in 115236 119820 and 113.084 RSUs respectively for total intrinsic value of $3.6 million $5.4

million and $7.2 million respectively Intrinsic value is calculated as the number of shares vested times the Companys
closing stock price at the vesting date Of the 113084 RSUs vested in the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 37831
shares were withheld to satisfy minimum employee tax withholding

There were 448320 RSUs outstanding as of March 31 2012 During the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 3055 RSUs

were forfeited The weighted average fair value of RSUs granted during the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 was $49.62

the majority of which vest in four equal annual installments on the anniversary of the grant date

The following table summarizes the changes in RSUs during the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 for

all of the stock incentive plans described above
Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number Grant Date Number Grant Date Number Grant Date

of RSUs Fair Value of RSUs Fair Value of RSUs Fair Value

Non-vested beginning of year 247501 47.97 205615 $36.47 332109 $34.67
Granted 76500 18.52 266314 $33.85 232350 $49.62

Forfeited 3150 48.86 20000 $35.32 3055 $47.06
Vested 115236 48.93 119820 $35.83 113084 $37.83

Non-vested end of year 205615 36.47 332109 $34.67 448320 $41.53

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company sponsors an employee stock purchase plan ESPP for all eligible employees Under the ESPP employ
ees authorize payroll deductions from 1% to 15% of their eligible compensation to purchase shares of the Companys
common stock Under the ESPP shares of the Companys common stock may be purchased at the end of each fiscal

quarter at 95% of the closing price of the Companys common stock total of 842000 shares of the Companys com
mon stock are authorized under the ESPP As of March 31 2012 total of 751890 shares were available for issuance

under the ESPP During the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 the Company issued 5573 4336 and

3342 shares respectively under the ESPP at an average price of $26.68 $44.23 and $66.33 per share respectively

The compensation expense related to the ESPP recorded in the fiscal years ended March 3L 2010 2011 and 2012 was

not material

Valuation Assumptions and Equity Based Award Activity

As discussed in Note Summary of significant accounting policies determining the estimated fair value of stock-

based awards is judgmental in nature and involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions including the term

of the stock-based awards risk-free interest rates over the vesting period expected dividend rates the price volatility of

the Companys shares and forfeiture rates of the awards

Stock Option Valuation

The Company calculates the fair value of all stock option awards with the exception of the stock options issued with

market-based conditions on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model The expected term for its stock options

was determined through analysis of historical data on empoyee exercises vesting periods of awards and post-vesting

employment termination behavior The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S Treasury bonds issued with life terms

similar to the expected life of the grant Volatility is calculated based on historical volatility of the daily closing price of

the Companys common stock continuously compounded with look back period similar to the terms of the expected
life of the grant The Company has not declared or paid any cash dividend on its common stock since the closing of its

initial public offering and does not currently anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends The timing and amount of

future cash dividends if any is periodically evaluated by the Companys Board of Directors and would depend upon
among other factors the Companys earnings financial condition cash requirements and contractual restrictions
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The following average key assumptions were used in the valuation of stock options granted in each respective period

2010

Year Ended March 31

201 2012

Stock option grants

Risk-free interest rate

Expected lives in years

Expected volatility

Dividend yield

Weighted average exercise price of options granted

Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted

Number of shares granted

Includes 45000 stock options that were issued with market-based conditions to director The Company calculated the fair value of these stock option

awards on the date of grant at $9.82 per share using lattice option-pricing model The significant assumptions used were as follows risk-free interest

rate of 1.71% expected term of 3.3 years expected volatility
of 38.35% dividend yield of 00% and weighted average exercise price of $34.27

per share

The following table summarizes the changes in common stock options during the fiscal years ended March 31 2010

2011 and 2012 for all of the stock incentive plans described above

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise

of Options Price of Options Price of Options Price

Outstanding beginning of year 2835765 $42.73 2868865 $31.81 2529599 $32.79

Granted 950050 19.04 297500 34.75 300706 49.95

Exercised 11500 18.58 605641 29.35 887755 34.96

Forfeited 75085 47.37 31125 43.15 36436 40.65

Cancellations 830365 53.14

Outstandingendofyear 2868865 $31.81 2529599 $32.79 1906.114 $34.09

Exercisable end of year
962247 $35.822

The aggregate intrinsic value shown in the table above is the sum of the amounts by which the quoted market price of

the Companys common stock exceeded the exercise price of the options as of March 31 2012 for those options for

which the quoted market price was in excess of the exercise price This amount changes over time based on changes

in the fair market value of the Companys common stock During the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and

2012 173413 311990 and 364591 options respectively vested with fair values of $1.7 million $2.5 million and $3.0

million respectively

The following table summarizes the exercise prices and contractual lives of all options outstanding under the stock

incentive plans described above as of March 31 2012

Options Outstanding and Exercisable

Range of Exercise Prices Shares

$10.00$19.99 506493 $18.52 2.8

20.00 29.99 79500 27.26 2.6

30.00 39.99 683214 34.10 2.7

40.00 49.99 583.157 46.40 3.3

50.00 59.99 48750 55.90 6.2

60.00 69.99 5000 68.11 4.7

$10.00$69.99 1906114 $34.09 3.0

1.44%-2.19%

4.0

35.8%41.9%

0.0%

$19.04

6.01

950050

0.8%-2.56%

3.9

36.7%42.1%

0.0%

$34.75

$11.27

297500

0.66%2.22%
4.2

36.7%41 .6%

0.0%

$49.95

16.48

300706

2010

Year Ended March 31

2011 2012

The weighted average remaining contractual term for the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 is approximately years and the aggregate intrinsic value is

$104.0 million

The weighted average remaining contractual term for the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 is approximately years and the aggregate intrinsic value is

$50.8 million

Weighted Average

Exercise Price

Weighted Average

Remaining Contractual

LifeYears
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Valuation for Restricted Stock Units

RSUs are valued at the grant date closing price of the Companys common stock as reported by The NASDAQ Stock

Market LLC NASDAQ

Valuation for Employee Stock Purchase Rights

The value of employee stock purchase rights for shares of stock purchased under the ESPP is determined as the fair

market value of the underlying shares on the date of purchase as determined by the closing price of the Companys

common stock as reported by NASDAQ less the purchase price which is 95% of the closing price of the Companys

common stock The ESPP enrollment begins on the first day of the quarter Stock purchases occur on the last day of the

quarter with only eligible employee payroll deductions for the period used to calculate the shares purchased There is

no estimate of grant date fair value or estimated forfeitures since actual compensation expense was recorded in

the period on the purchase date The fair value of employee stock purchase rights is equivalent to 5% discount of the

purchase date closing price

Forfeitures

Forfeitures are estimated based on historical experience at the time of grant and adjusted if necessary in subsequent

periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates Stock-based compensation expense is recognized on straight-

line basis net of an estimated forfeiture rate for only those shares expected to vest over the requisite service period of

the award which is generally the option vesting term and can range from six months to four years Changes in estimated

forfeitures will be recognized through cumulative catch-up adjustment in the period of change and will also impact the

amount of compensation expense to be recognized in future periods The Company analyzes forfeiture rates using four

separate groups In the fiscal year ended March 31 2012 the Company decreased its estimated forfeiture rate for the

general employee group from 20% to 15% Forfeiture rates for the remaining groups are 0% 1% and 5% for members

of the Companys Board of Directors and two separate groups of executives based on seniority respectively

Compensation Expense

The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense in the following consolidated statements of income line

items for stock options and RSUs and for shares issued under the Companys ESPP for the fiscal years ended March 31

2010 2011 and 2012 in thousands except per share amounts
Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Stock-based compensation expense included in

Costs and expenses

Cost of services 3930 2763 3440

Member relations and marketing 2248 1663 2133

General and administrative 5974 4366 6413

Depreciation and amortization

Total costs and expenses 12152 8792 11986

Operating income 12152 8792 11986

Net income 7984 $5725 7359

Impact on diluted earnings per share 0.51 0.35 0.42

There are no stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of the cost of an asset

Stock-based compensation expense by award type is shown below in thousands
Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Stock-based compensation expense by award type

Stock options 6287 3590 5072

Restricted stock units 5857 5202 6914

Employee stock purchase rights

Total stock-based compensation 12152 8792 $11986

As of March 31 2012 $19.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock-based compensation was

expected to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.5 years
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Tax Benefits

The benefits of tax deductions in excess of recognized book compensation expense are reported as financing cash

inflow in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows Approximately $0 $2.6 million and $7.6 million of

tax benefits associated with the exercise of employee stock options and restricted stock units were recorded as cash

from financing activities in the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively

Note 13 Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of the following in thousands
Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Current 14328 $11202 15288

Deferred 8136 1511 85

Provision for income taxes 6192 9691 15203

The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income taxes determined by applying the applicable income

tax statutory rates to income before provision for income taxes as follows

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

Statutory U.S federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State income tax net of U.S federal income tax benefit 5.7 5.5 5.5

Tax-exempt interest income 2.7 1.5 1.5

Washington D.C QHTC income tax credits 9.1 7.3 3.1

Other permanent differences net 5.4 3.2 2.7

Effective tax rate on continuing operations 34.3% 34.9% 38.6%

Deferred income taxes are provided for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and

their reported amounts on the accompanying consolidated financial statements The tax effect of these temporary

differences is presented below in thousands
As of March 31

2011 2012

Deferred income tax assets liabilities

Tax credit carryforwards 7775 7320

Deferred compensation accrued for financial reporting purposes 5515 7574

Stock-based compensation 6831 7221

Reserve for uncollectible revenue 1980 2.215

Depreciation 270

Acquired intangibles 298 3430

Unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities 61

Other 295 468

Total deferred tax assets 23025 28228

Capitalized software development costs 4584 7169
Deferred incentive compensation and other deferred charges 2901 3783
Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 654

Depreciation 1712

Total deferred tax liabilities 7.485 13318

Net deferred income tax assets $15540 $14910

In estimating future tax consequences the Company generally considers all expected future events in the determina

tion and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities The Company believes that its estimated future taxable income

will be sufficient for the full realization of its deferred income tax assets The effect of future changes in existing laws or

rates is not considered in the determination and evaluation of deferred tax assets and liabilities until the new tax laws or

rates are enacted
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The Company uses more-likely-than-not recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the tax position taken

for the financial statement recognition and measurement of tax position If tax position does not meet the more-

likely-than-not initial recognition threshold no benefit is recorded in the financial statements The Company does not

currently anticipate that the total amounts of unrecognized tax benefits of which the amount was $0 as of March 31

2012 will significantly change within the next twelve months The Company classifies interest and penalties on any

unrecognized tax benefits as component of the provision for income taxes No interest or penalties were recognized in

the consolidated statements of income for the fiscal year ended March 31 2010 2011 or 2012 The Company files

income tax returns in U.S federal and state and foreign jurisdictions With few exceptions the Company is no longer

subject to U.S federal state and local tax examinations for filings in major tax jurisdictions before 2007

Washington D.C Income Tax Incentives

The Office of Tax and Revenue of the Government of the District of Columbia the Office of Tax and Revenue provides

regulations that modify the income and franchise tax sales and use tax and personal property tax regulations for

Qualified High Technology Companies QHTC doing business in the District of Columbia

In February 2006 the Company received notification from the Office of Tax and Revenue that its certification as QHTC
under the New Economy Transformation Act of 2000 had been accepted effective as of January 2004 As QHTC
the Companys Washington D.C statutory income tax rate was 0.0% through calendar year 2008 and 6.0% thereafter

versus 9.975% prior to this qualification Under that Act the Company is also eligible for certain Washington D.C

income tax credits and other benefits As of March 31 2012 the Company has $11.3 million of Washington D.C tax

credits with expiration dates ranging from 2018 to 2022

Note 14 Stockholders Equity

In April 2008 the Companys Board of Directors authorized an increase in its cumulative share repurchase program to

$350 million of the Companys common stock The Company repurchased 146179 shares 188930 shares and 111719

shares of its common stock at total cost of approximately $4.0 million $8.3 million and $6.6 million in the fiscal years

ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively pursuant to its share repurchase program All repurchases to date

have been made in the open market No minimum number of shares subject to repurchase has been fixed and the share

repurchase authorization has no expiration date As of March 31 2012 the remaining authorized repurchase amount

was $27.1 million

As of March 31 2011 and 2012 the Company had repurchased 7520671 and 7632390 shares of the Companys com
mon stock respectively at total cost of $316.3 million and $322.9 million respectively Of these repurchased shares

1000000 shares had been retired as of March 31 2012

Note 15 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

The accumulated elements of other comprehensive income net of tax included within stockholders equity on

the accompanying consolidated balance sheets are composed solely of net unrealized gains and losses on marketable

securities net of applicable income taxes

Note 16 Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company leases its headquarters space the Lease under an operating lease that expires in 2019 Leasehold

improvements related to the Lease are depreciated over the term of the Lease and totaled approximately $10.0 million

net and $16.0 million net as of March 31 2011 and 2012 respectively The terms of the Lease contain provisions

for rental escalation and the Company is required to pay ts portion of executory costs such as taxes insurance and

operating expenses The Company leases under operating leases regional office spaces in Austin Texas Nashville

Tennessee Vernon Hills Illinois San Francisco California Ann Arbor Michigan and London England The Company

also leases office space in Chennai India through its Indian subsidiary ABCO Advisory Services India Private Ltd The
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Texas lease expires in October 2019 the Tennessee lease in September 2017 the Illinois lease in September 2014

the California lease in November 2012 the Michigan lease in December 2012 the England lease in August 2012 and the

India lease in December 2016 The Company recognized rental and executory expenses of $9.3 million $9.4 million and

$11.9 million in the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 respectively related to these leases

The following table details the future minimum lease payments under the Companys current leases excluding rental

escalation and executory costs in thousands

Year Ending March 31

2013 9375

2014 9644

2015 9394

2016 9317

2017 9150

Thereafter 18602

Total $65482

Purchase Obligations

The Company has entered into an agreement for the purchase of software development services which is not cancel

able As of March 31 2012 purchases of $1.5 million had been made under this arrangement The Companys remaining

obligation in connection with this agreement continues through November 2013 and the payments expected to be

made under this agreement total $1.5 million during that period

Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors defined contribution 401k plan the 401k Plan for all employees who have reached the

age of 21 The Company provides discretionary contributions in the range of 0% to 100% which percentage is deter

mined by the Company after the end of the applicable plan year of an employees contribution up to maximum of 4%
of base salary During the period from March 2009 to December 31 2009 the Company suspended its discretionary

contributions to the 401k Plan Contributions to the 401k Plan for the fiscal years ended March 31 2010 2011 and

2012 were approximately $0.3 million $2.2 million and $2.9 million respectively

Litigation

From time to time the Company is subject to ordinary routine litigation incidental to its normal business operations The

Company is currently not party to and its property is not subject to any material legal proceedings

Note 17 Segments and Geographic Areas

Operating segments are components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and

regularly evaluated by the chief operating decision maker of an enterprise Under this definition the Company contains

two operating segments as of March 31 2012 Both segments have similar economic characteristics provide similar

products and services sold to the same or very similar customers and have similar sales and distribution procedures

Consequently the Company has one reportable segment for financial statement purposes

Substantially all of the Companys identifiable assets are located in the United States Disclosed in the following table is

revenue information for each geographic area for the years ended March 31 2010 2011 and 2012 in thousands

Year Ended March 31

2010 2011 2012

United States $222676 $273464 $357937

Other countries 9934 9975 12408

Total revenue $232610 $283439 $370345
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Note 18 Quarterly Financial Data Unaudited

Unaudited summarized financial data by quarter for the fiscal years ended March 31 2011 and 2012 is as follows in

thousands except per share amounts
Fiscal 2011 Quarter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenue $64820 $69431 $73605 75583

Operating income 6571 6914 5643 6778

Income from continuing operations before provision for income

taxes and equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 6792 7491 6123 7366

Net income from continuing operations 4349 4800 3924 5006

Net income from discontinued operations 244 84 10 107

Net income 4593 4884 3934 5113

Earnings per share

Basic 0.30 0.31 0.25 0.32

Diluted 0.29 0.30 0.24 0.30

Fiscal 2012 Quariter Ended

June 30 September 30 December 31 March 31

Revenue $79937 $91467 $98458 $100483

Operating income 5132 7.830 12510 10887

Income from continuing operations before provision for income

taxes and equity in loss of unconsolidated entity 5929 8278 14135 11051

Net income from continuing operations 3709 5174 7912 6057

Net income from discontinued operations
162 29 140 2110

Net income 3871 5.203 8052 8167

Earnings per share

Basic 0.24 0.32 0.49 0.49

Diluted 0.23 0.30 0.46 0.46

Note 19 Subsequent Events

On May 2012 the Companys Board of Directors approved two-for-one split of the Companys common stock to be

effected in the form of stock dividend As result of this action one additional share will be issued on June 18 2012 for

each share held by stockholders of record at the close of business on May 31 2012 The stock split will not have an

impact on the Companys consolidated financial position or results of operations Share and per share amounts included

herein have not been restated to reflect the impact of the future stock split
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Report of Managements Assessment of

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of our consolidated financial statements appearing in our

Annual Report Our consolidated financial statements were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America and include amounts based on managements estimates and judgments All

other financial information in this report has been presented on basis consistent with the information included in our

consolidated financial statements

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting We

maintain system of internal control that is designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the reliable preparation and

presentation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as

well as to safeguard assets from unauthorized use or disposition

Our control environment is the foundation for our system of internal control over financial reporting and is reflected in

our Code of Ethics for Employees Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for Members of the Board of Directors and

Code of Ethics for Finance Team Members Our internal control over financial reporting is supported by formal policies

and procedures which are reviewed modified and improved as changes occur in business conditions and operations

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors which is composed solely of outside directors meets periodically with

members of management and the independent registered public accounting firm to review and discuss internal control

over financial reporting and accounting and financial reporting matters The independent registered public accounting

firm reports to the Audit Committee and accordingly has full and free access to the Audit Committee at any time

Management with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer conducted an evaluation

of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31 2012 based on the framework in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission This evaluation included review of the documentation of controls evaluation of the design effectiveness of

controls testing of the operating effectiveness of controls and conclusion on this evaluation Based on this evaluation

management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31 2012

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on the effective

ness of internal control over financial reporting which is included herein

Robert Musslewhite

Chief Executive Officer and Director

May 30 2012

Michael Kirshbaum

Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

May 30 2012

63



Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

The Advisory Board Company and Subsidiaries

We have audited The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries internal control over financial reporting as of March 31

2012 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring

Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of Managements

Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the companys

internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether

effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining

an understanding of internal control over financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing

and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing

such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reason

able basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding

the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with

generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies

and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are

recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely

detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on

the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements

Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become

inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may

deteriorate

In our opinion The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries maintained in all material respects effective internal

control over financial reporting as of March 31 2012 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United

States the consolidated balance sheets of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries as of March 31 2012 and

2011 and the related consolidated statements of income stockholders equity and cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended March 31 2012 of The Advisory Board Company and subsidiaries and our report dated May

30 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

rWtLLP

Baltimore Maryland

May 30 2012
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Corporate Information

Annual Report on Form 10-K and Investor Contact

The information in this annual report is summary and should be considered along with the Companys Annual

Report on Form 10-K for the year ending March 31 2012

copy of the Companys Form 10-K for the year ending March 31 2012 filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission is available without charge Requests for the Annual Report on Form 10-K and other investor contacts

should be directed to Michael Kirshbaum Chief Financial Officer at The Advisory Board Company 2445 Street

NW Washington DC 20037

Common Stock Dividend Information

The common stock of The Advisory Board Company has been traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market under the symbol

ABCO since the initial public offering on November 12 2001 As of July 18 2012 there were approximately 8500

holders of the common stock including seven stockholders of record The Company has not declared or paid any

cash dividends on the common stock since the closing of its initial public offering and it does not anticipate declaring

or paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future The timing and amount of future cash dividends if any is periodi

cally evaluated by the Companys Board of Directors and would depend upon among other factors the Companys

earnings financial condition and cash requirements

Corporate Office Registrar and Transfer Agent independent Registered Accountant

The Advisory Board Company American Stock Transfer Trust Company LLC Ernst Young LLP

2445 Street NW 6201 15th Avenue 621 East Pratt Street

Washington DC 20037 Brooklyn NY 11219 Baltimore MD 21202

202-266-5600 800-937-5449

www.advisory.com

This table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share of

the Companys common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Stock Market adjusted to reflect

the Companys two-for-one stock split
of its common stock completed on June 18 2012

High Low

Fiscal year ending March 31 2011

First Quarter
$22.07 $15.83

Second Quarter
$22.49 $19.87

Third Quarter
$25.34 $22.08

Fourth Quarter
$26.41 $23.22

Fiscal year ending March 31 2012

First Quarter
$29.70 $22.71

Second Quarter
$34.10 $25.19

Third Quarter
$37.68 $28.72

Fourth Quarter
$45.03 $36.04
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Board of Directors

Sanju Bansal
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